


































































Joseph P. O’Donnell 
 

Joseph P. O’Donnell served in the 483rd Bomb Group, 15th Air Force, World War II. 
 
His B-17 was shot down on May 10, 1944.  He was captured, and became a prisoner of 
the German Government (POW # 1414).   
 
He was held in Stalag Luft IV and was a participant on the forced march from that camp. 
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Alexander Gorashko 
 

Alexander Gorashko served with the 454th Bomb Group, 15th Air 
Force during World War II.  He was shot down on August 22, 1944 
and was held at Stalag Luft IV.  He was a participant on the forced 
march from Stalag Luft IV and was taken to Stalag 357.  He was 
among the group of prisoners who were marched from Stalag 357.  
He was liberated in May of 1945.    
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Alexander Gorashko served with the 454th Bomb Group, 15th Air 
Force during World War II.  He was shot down on August 22, 1944 
and was held at Stalag Luft IV.  He was a participant on the forced 
march from Stalag Luft IV and was taken to Stalag 357.  He was 
among the group of prisoners who were marched from Stalag 357.  
He was liberated in May of 1945.    







































































































John Anderson – interview July 10, 2004 
 

John Anderson is a former Luft IV POW.  He now lives in Mexico City, Florida. 
He was in 388th Bomb Group.  John was in St. Wendel first (Sept. 1944)  transferred to 
Luft IV September 1st. 
 
Took the 40 minute walk from the railroad station to the camp.  Processed in Searched  
got potatoes for dinner  slept in tent cold 
 
On Sept 9th he writes in his journal  “Morale very high” 
 
On the 12th John writes Red Cross parcels are here 
 
On the 14th he writes Out of Bread cold walked, catholic mass in the morning Sunday 
went to church evening church services 
 
18th Bible Study  feels good nice weather walks around compound 
 
On 29th moved to new compound (Check dates) 
 
John was in Lagar A Sept 9-16 lived in a tent because of overcrowding.  Went to church 
once there 
 
Then moved to C Lagar 
 
 
John’s philosophy during captivity was to keep busy-no time to think about problems 
 
Lagar C 
 
Red Cross Room was a fairly large room.  Probably would seat 400 men.  In the same 
building was the kitchen.  Anderson believes the men who worked in the kitchen also 
lived there.  There was a library in one corner of the Red Cross room.  The library was 
very popular.  The men would line up to get in – as much as an hour wait.  In December 
of 1944 the Germans built a stage – 18” high.  They had lighting but no curtain.   
 
Goon Baiting 
 
In November a pump organ arrived and placed in the Red Cross room.  John Anderson 
was practicing Christmas Carols.  A couple of the German guards came in.  John was 
playing Silent Night.  One of the guards played Silent Night.  Then, John played Hark, 
the Herald Angels Sing.  Then, the guard played Hark, The Herald Angels Sing.  John 
played, Glorious Things of you are spoken.  Then the guard again repeated the tune.  
John then played The Star Spangled Banner.  The guard again repeated the tune.  Of 
course he didn’t realize what he was playing.  The other men in the room turned and 



looked on with shock and astonishment as the German guard played the National Anthem 
of the United States of America.        
 
John was choir director.  The number of men in the choir varied from about 15 to 24 men.  
They rehearsed in the red cross room in the evenings.  M-W-F was choir rehearsal, T-Th 
was Glee Club rehearsal.  The barracks closed at sundown and that’s when the men were 
locked in for the night.  Men doing rehearsal were able to stay and rehearse.  Got to go 
back to their barrack when rehearsal was over. 
 
Choir Sung:  Jubilate-Now on land and sea descending 
 
Guards: 
Big Stoop  head many stores about what happened to him.  Head was found in bucket 
someplace.  Picked on everyone. 
Scar face:  Lloyd knew him.  dad and Anderson do not remember him 
 
Hauptmann (captain)  Wienert tall-stood very erect 
had been wounded Kaplan had a hard time getting to see him.  When he did Wienert 
insisted he speak German even though he could speak English 
 
Incident two or three planes doing acrobatics over camp  one plunged to the ground 
people cheered  all were sent inside (Sept 1944??) 
 
 
 
Two medics lived in Anderson’s barrack.  Shot down in September of 1939.  Good 
voices. Sang solos. 
 
 
 
Minstrel Show: 
 
Tom Edwards produced the show 
Black faced singers 
The show was given 3 times and was filled to capacity each time  “captive audience” 
(Ha!)  As there were about 2000 men in the compound the show had to be given that 
many times so everyone who wanted to see it would be given a chance.   
 
Jazz Band  
played and put on a program 
 
Glee Club 
 
Sang fight songs from various universities.  At first misunderstanding with guards almost 
put an end to it “Who gave you permission to sing fight song?” 
 



 
 
bad memories  John was given plaque “May all your bad memories be replaced with 
good memories”  says he does remember the good ones more. 
 
Concerned about the 11,000 former POW’s who have no benefits 
 
 
Bible: 
the camp had three English padres. Jackson, Davis, Morgan replaced Jackson. 
 
Anthony Jackson was a favorite.  A very good speaker.  When ever he gave a sermon a 
German interpreter had to be present.  This didn’t seem to faze Jackson.  He continues to 
speak his mind.  Once was speaking on the Book Of Daniel.  Unfavorable compared 
Germans to . . . .    
 
Morning devotions were held every morning after roll call.  Met in the washroom of 
Barracks 10 (*maybe 9) Sang a song or two.  Someone would read from the Bible.  
Lasted only about 15 minutes. 
 
Bible study met once a week.  led by a Padre. 
 
The church council (of which John was a member) met once a month.  They planned the 
services that would be coming up. 
 
Substitute preachers were assigned to preach in case the Padre didn’t make it to the 
service on time.  He had responsibilities in four Lagars and was always concerned he may 
not make it in time.  Different people were assigned dates to have a lesson prepared-just 
in case.  John Anderson was scheduled to be substitute preacher on February 4th , 1945.  
There was a big crowd that day.  Everyone knew the camp would be vacated soon.  The 
uncertainty causing many to turn to their God in worship.     
Anderson started the service with the hymns.  When Padre Morgan didn’t arrive he added 
some more hymns.  He then had the men scheduled to read the Bible passages go ahead.  
Finally Padre arrived.  Asked Anderson to play a few more hymns while he got ready.  
There was a lot of singing that morning!  Anderson did not have to give the sermon that 
day.  However, he kept it.  What is salt after it loses it’s flavor?.  What does God owe us?  
What do we owe God?  49years later John was asked to give the message at the 1st 
Methodist church in Mexico City Fl.      
 
In January a Sunday school class began.  About 20 people came and then they got more 
and more each time. 
 
Vespers were held in Anderson’s barrack each night.  The tail gunner on his crew led the 
Vespers.  Vespers were held about 6 pm.  Lights out were @ nine.  Started reading the 
book of Proverbs. 
 



 
One of Padre Jackson’s sermons – both dad and Anderson took notes on this one 
 
The seven dual calls in the Bible – When God calls people twice: 

1. Abraham Abraham  faith Genesis 22:11 
2. Jacob, Jacob Sacrifice Genesis 46:2 
3. Moses, Moses  Holiness Exodus 3:4  
4. Martha, martha, knowledge Luke 10:4 and Matthew 26:7 
5. Samuel, Samuel, service I Samuel 3:11 
6. Simon, Simon Suffering Luke 22:31 
7. Saul, Saul glory Acts 9:4 

 
Jackson was taken out of the camp after a run in with the Germans  he was replaced 
In the winter lock up was at about 4 pm.  To pass the time- had round table discussions 
on different topics.  Held debates one night a week.  Each man took turns. Topics:  How 
to ride a horse.  Spelling Bees. 
 
cards:  Pinochle-Anderson’s crewmates decided they would play pinochle until the war 
was over.  They did so.  When they stopped playing the score was 30,000 points to 
25,000 points.    
 
Ken one of the medics began a lecture series on January 1st.  Topics regarding health.   
The best things to eat in the red cross parcels  (milk, cheese)  Diet.  Diptheria.  Once John 
asked Ken if he would give a lecture regarding sex.  John wrote on the Blackboard “Sex 
Lecture Tonight Barracks 1.  Ken was embarrassed so John had to change it.  Never got 
their sex lecture. 
 
 
Food:   
 
Hunger:  Red Cross parcels.  Only times they got full parcel all to themselves was at 
Thanksgiving and Christmas.  Usually half rations.  Split your portion with someone else.   
Usually get  
- can of salmon 
-jelly 
Only time he remembers the men talking about women was after they got those full 
parcels.  “Typical men, stomach first, then women.”  (laughter) 
 
 
The room leader would go get the bread ration.  German’s would come around with a big 
cart stacked high with loaves of bread.  Divide it up as fairly as possible:  after cutting it 
up as equally as possible. deck of cards – put cards down beside each slice.  Then men 
would draw card and get the bread that matched their card. 
 
Never full always thinking about food.     
 



Anderson filled one page in his notebook with a lists of his favorite breakfasts he had at 
home– waffles still a favorite 
 
 
Lights Out was at 9 o’clock.  Everyone was still awake.  Would often talk about food  
One night one of his roommates described in minute detail how he would eat a Snicker’s 
Bar after the war was over.  He would place it on aluminum foil and put it in the oven 
until it started to melt.  Everyone listened intently, imagining the whole process.  They all 
thought it was a pretty wonderful idea! 
 
Initial interrogation:  Knew everything about the plane he was in.  Where it was in 
formation 
names of everyone 
 
 
 
Anderson taught music: 
 
The camp had a phonograph and some records.  Three or four of the records were 
classical music.  Anderson used these when he taught a music appreciation course. 
 
Also gave a series of lectures on music theory.  drew staff lines on cigarette paper.  to be 
part of the class you had to come to each session with two cigarette papers. 
 
instruments came in November 
 
Many camps had courses for credit.  Luft IV did not.  John wanted to start classes.  felt he 
was qualified as he already had a degree in music.  He had permission to start classes in 
March.  Of course this never happened as the camp was vacated by then.      
 
Chris Christenson was the YMCA representative to the camp.  He wrote the book, 
“Seven years among the prisoners”  He was from Denmark.  At Christmas John 
Anderson had an opportunity to meet with him.  He said Luft IV had less supplies and 
equipment than any camp he visited.  Said he would try to get hymnals. 
 
In 1994 John saw Chris Christenson.  Told him you still owe me some books. 
Christmas Eve night – held a meeting in the center of the compound  sang carols brass 
band provided the music.  At the end they sang God bless America 
 
In 2000 John visited Chris in Denmark.  Chris had it rough at the end of the war.  He was 
captured by the Russians in Berlin.  Was held as a prisoner for a year after the war was 
over.   
 
 
How Belief in God affected prisoners: 
 



In John’s barrack – one crewmate went into the seminary after the war.  Founded KJNP 
(King Jesus North Pole) radio in Anchorage, Alaska.  Don Nelson.  After his experience 
he preached for a living.  Gave Bibles away.  Flew aver Russia and dropped Bibles near 
the shore. 
 
Another fellow John knew during training.  he didn’t have any morals at all.  He was a 
very hard person to live with.  After training in was assigned to the 100th Bomb Group in 
England as a waist gunner.  Disaster stuck on his first mission.  For some reason there 
was only one parachute available to the two waist gunners.  this man wrestled the other 
gunner , got the chute, and bailed out, leaving the other gunner to his death.  When he 
landed he broke his leg and was in the same hospital as John’s pilot.  When they met up 
with this fellow at Luft IV that is how they found out their pilot was alive.  Addison 
became a changed person.  He studied the Bible and became an authority on the life of 
Paul.  He was a member of the church council.   
 
The engineer on John’s plane became a missionary in India after the war.   
 
Nelson – ball turret gunner liberated on May 2nd.  Went to a warehouse and got some 
guns.  Stoled watches from people that lived in the area.  Got religion and changed his 
life.  Once, many years later, he took a trip to the Dead Sea.  While on a boat ride on the 
Sea he met some German tourists.  He confessed what he had done after the war and told 
them he was sorry for stealing.  The German tourist also admitted fault.  Some they were 
confessing their sins to each other and finding forgiveness on the Dead Sea.   
 
 
Many lives were changed as a result of their experience as POW. 
 
Jews:  Anderson said Dr, Kaplan was a Jew but was not punished for that.  Dr. Kaplan 
came in November.  According to Laura Kaplan, the German’s were surprised that a Jew 
could be a doctor.   
 
When Anderson first arrived at Luft IV and was in the Vorlager being prosessed in.  They 
were standing naked in alphabetical order.  big Stoop was reading off names.  The man 
standing next to John had a Jewish sounding name.  Big Stoop walked over, picked the 
man up, and threw him against the wall.  John was scared! 
 
Economy 
   
No canteen.  Economy based on cigarettes. 
 
5 packs of cigarettes were in a Red Cross parcel.  If you shared a parcel with another you 
got 2 ½ packs a week.   
 
John made special dessert  Spear Goo  ¼ can of milk, sugar, prunes, etc. 
 
 



Note:  I took my dad, Lawrence Witt, to visit with John Anderson at the Crown Plaza 
Hotel, Dayton, Ohio, on September 13, 2004 
 
Anderson and Witt were friends at Stalag Luft IV, Lager C. 
They had not seen each other since the day they were marched out of Luft IV in February 
of 1945. 
 
John conducted the choir at Stalag Luft IV.  Lawrence was a member. 
       Laura 
 
 



E-mail:  October 29, 2007 
 
Laura, 
    You may use whatever I have done if it is of help to you.  I did not get interested in recording 
the events that happened while I was in the military until my pilot decided to have a crew reunion 
at the 388th Bomb Group Reunion in Valley Forge, PA in 1991.  I did not even know about the 
Bomb Group Association until after I moved to Florida in 1983.  My engineer sent me information 
about it and I became a life member.  They have an informative newsletter which comes out four 
times a year.  I wrote up my experiences of my crew training and combat experience so I could 
give a copy to each of my crew members at the meeting.  I relied primarily on the entries I had in 
my diary.  I entitled the paper "Radio to Crew".  Two of my crew were deceased, two were still to 
be discovered and only four showed up for the reunion.  Each one that attended got a copy.  
Eventually, all the crew got a copy.  It took quite awhile to locate the two missing members.  
McIntyre, the waist gunner, lived in Columbus, GA where I had lived for 13 years before I moved 
to Florida.  Now, he has moved and I have lost him again.  Only the engineer and I are still alive 
now.  I saw Maurer for the first time since the war at the AXPOW convention in Denver in 2005.  
He had lost his wife and was living with his daughter.  It was good to see him, but he has lost 
much of his mrmories and it was difficult to communicate with him.    
    Another organization made up of members of Stalag Luft IV started up about that time (1991) 
with Leonard Rose as the guiding force.    When I heard about a trip back to the campsite in 1993 
I thought of going but a serious car accident prevented me from going.  I did go back with a group 
that I met in New York in 1994.   Among the group was Joe O'Donnell who was responsible for 
the arrangements, and I still keep in contact with him.  He has published a number of books about 
Luft iV.  I got to meet Chris Christiansen on that trip which made it worthwhile.  You may have his 
book Seven Years among Prisoners of War.  I got him to sign a copy for me when I met him 
again at his home in Viborg, Denmark in 2000.   In 1994 our crew had their 50th-year reunion at 
the 388th meeting in Richmond, VA.  To prepare for this I wrote up my memories of being a 
prisoner of war and entitled it Life as a P.O.W.  A copy went to each member and each of my six 
children.  Now I only have the two books left but I refer to them many times for events that 
happened over 60 years ago.  If I can help you in getting information about the camp on any 
particular day just ask.  Two others of my roommates have written books that I have and I can 
consult them also.   
    You may use whatever you think is of interest.  It seems that my recollections of Luft IV are 
better than they were at the time.  I did a lot of teaching music in addition to leading the choir and 
the glee club.  We put on a  minstrel show in January three times but I was not too impressed 
with the performances.  I recall being hungry most of the time, but if I kept busy it did not bother 
me much.  Only the march was really a bad time.  The box car ride at the end of the march was 
the most traumatic event of my life.  That was inhumane treatment.  However, I lived through it.  
Surviving was the important thing, and while I always thought the government would want an 
accounting some day it has never happened.  I guess we shall never know the complete story of 
the events of the march.  I think it is good that you and others are at least trying to relate the 
occurences so that others can read about them.   
    If you have any questions just ask.   
            John H. Anderson 
 
 
e-mail from John H. Andersons to Laura Edge dated 29 October 2007 
 
elja22@gtcom.net 
 
 



September 1, 2010 
 
Laura, 
    When I was at the national convention in Greenville, SC in 2003 or maybe it was at Arlington, 
TX in 2004 a fellow named David Dorfmeier addressed our group of alumni of Luft IV and said he 
was writing the story of his father who was the Barracks chief of Barracks 3 in C Lager.  His father 
had made a tape of some of his experiences  but never finished the story.  I was interested in his 
problems and tried to help him in covering some of the incidents that happened in camp.  David 
finally retired from the service and now lives in Paso Nobles, CA.  He has finished the story and is 
now editing it for publication.  He has sent me a copy of each chapter as he wrote it for my 
comments and suggestions.  He and I differed on the experiences at Fallingbostel.  In reading 
your story I think that a lot of fellows were in 357 and I had never heard of 357.  I was certain I 
was in Stalag XI B and stayed in a white tent.  After a couple of days I was moved to the tent next 
door which was the convalescent tent.  I am uncertain as to whether my three crew members 
visited me there or not.  I did not mention it in my diary and I think I would have if they had come.  
My engineer is still alive but when I saw him again in Denver in 2005 he would not talk about the 
war so I did not press him. 
    I left the main column when Dr. Caplan put Steve, the British medic who lived in my barracks in 
C lager, in charge of a group of 20 prisoners and we left by train.  The idea was to not have to 
walk but to rest and this would be of value to the men who were having trouble marching.  March 
2nd was the last day I marched with the group.  The doctor allowed me to ride in the wagon 
where I really froze since I did not exercise.  Our group got split up when we had to change trains 
at Uelzen and seven of us missed the second train.  This was on the 23rd.  An air raid siren went 
off and we were asked to go to a shelter but we decided not to which our one guard did not like.  
We later caught up with the rest of the group.  On the 28th my group which was now a large 
group went to a railway station which according to the doctor's Journal was called Ebbsdorf.  We 
were placed in boxcars. My car only had 55 men because we were part of the hospital.  Other 
cars had 60.  The train did not move until after midnight of the 29th.  We were like a bunch of 
animals in that car.  We arrived at Fallingbostel and had to walk up a hill to get into camp.  I heard 
about the Air Corps men having to march on so I went to the French compound to avoid the 
exit.  The Germans did not like it when they found out that many were still in camp.  We were 
offered two choices:  if you are sick you go to the hospital, if not you march.  Funerals were held 
every day and sometimes more than once a day.  Nobody wanted to go to the hospital.  We were 
told to fall out at noon for an inspection and before they got to look at us an air raid occurred so 
we had to take cover.  It was postponed for one day.  The next day the bulk of the Germans were 
gone but they left enough guards to still patrol the grounds.  I sold a good GI shirt to a French 
soldier for 17 crackers.  It was at 8:37 in the morning of April 16th that a British tank drove up to 
the gate amid much shouting and cheering.  A number of British and American commandos left 
the camp and wandered around camp.  I did talk to one fellow who visited the concentration camp 
nearby. The British gave every one in camp a loaf of white bread the next day.  I immediately ate 
it.  I was part  of the second shipment to leave a couple of days later.   
    Your story is a good one and it shows you did a lot of work on it. I forwarded it to Walter 
Lawrence in Kansas because he evidently knew your father.  I would like to send it to David 
Dorfmeier because he does not include any incident unless he can verify it.  He is starting a new 
job and will not be able to complete his book for awhile.  
    Thanks for thinking of me and letting me in on a different perspective from what I experienced.  
Somebody ought to write the whole story.  I thought John Nichol did a pretty good job of 
summarizing the marches all over Germany. 
    If you want any stories from me maybe you can ask the questions and I can respond.   
                                John H. Anderson     
 
 
 



E-mail:  September 6, 2010 
 
 
Dear Laura, 
    Your father may have been among the first to arrive at Fallingbostel from Luft IV. I remember 
him telling me that he did not remember how he got to Hamburg.  I never wrote the name of 
Ebbsdorf in my diary either but I expect that is where I caught the train.  I do know I was in Uelzen 
earlier and missed a train and had to wait on the platform, lying on a baggage cart, until the next 
train  came.   
    You mention delousing and I remember going through that also.  When I consulted my diary I 
wrote that I was sprayed for lice on April 19th, after liberation.  I did get a typhus shot on the 6th 
and again on the 15th.  I was somewhat surprised to know that I took a shower on April 11th.  I 
had forgot about that.  Back in Luft IV I went to take a shower in the Vorlager on January 17th.  
This time after getting wet they turned off the water and said to lather up.  Then we only got cold 
water to rinse off with which didn't seem right.  Our barracks got to take another shower on 
February 5th and this time we did not have to rinse in cold water.  It did feel good and prepared 
us for leaving the next day.  My thoughts at the time were that things were gradually improving.  
The Germans had built a stage in the Red Cross room and even provided some extra lights for a 
show we had on December 14th.  The newly formed Glee Club sang a medley of college football 
songs accompanied by a trumpet which also provided the modulations between the numbers.  A 
jazz band was also on that first program.  I had nothing to do with the jazz program but I did 
recognize the work that had gone into making sound as good as it did.  The Glee Club sang 
another program on Christmas Day after singing with a brass group in the middle of the 
compound on Christmas eve.  Our choir sang The Holy City at church on the 24th and a group of 
numbers and carols in the afternoon.  Later, I rounded up a group of fellows and we went caroling 
in each of the barracks.  I thought it was a nice Christmas.   
    I expect it would be easy to forget a shower.  One of the fellows in my room wrote a book and 
he did not mention it.  I thought the whole lager took a shower on Feb. 5th but I could be wrong. 
    Back in Fallingbostel I did not see the market going on.  That may have been only in 357.  I did 
get a quarter of a RC parcel on April 6th and Dorfmeier mentions that also.  I just wrote Joe 
O'Donnell about it.   
    Your story about your Dad avoiding the going-away party is an excellent story.  I hope you can 
get it published. 
    Are there any specific questions you may have that I could help you with?   
                John 
 



Date:  Mon, 13 Sep 2010 12:32:42 -0400 [09/13/2010 12:32:42 PM EDT] 
From:  

JOHN H. ANDERSON <JANDERSON118@triad.rr.com>   
To:  

Laura Edge <lawe@umich.edu>  
Subject:  Brussels 
Show this HTML in a new window? 
Dear Laura, 
    You caused me to go through the large filing box I have of material pertaining to my time in the 
service. I know I have not looked at it since 1991 and I had forgotten most of the things I have in 
the box.  One thing I think would interest you is a map of Brussels which I got while I was there.  It 
is 18" X 15" and I thought I would make a copy and send it to you.  The place where I stayed is 
indicated on the map by a rectangle and an X at the top of the map.  The other side of the map 
has Places of Interest and Entertainments.  I saw the Tomb of Unknown Warrior, the Cathedral, 
the Conservatoire of Music, and the Mannikin Fountain.  I attended a symphony concert but I do 
not remember where that was.  Also attended a News Theater which were quite popular in 
London.  
    Thanks for sending me all the information.  I have read it all and will make some comments but 
I doubt if I can get them to you before I leave on Wednesday.  I'll try but it looks doubtful right 
now.  I should be back by next Sunday. 
                            John 
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Date:  Mon, 13 Sep 2010 12:53:33 -0400 [09/13/2010 12:53:33 PM EDT] 
From:  

JOHN H. ANDERSON <JANDERSON118@triad.rr.com>   
To:  

Laura Edge <lawe@umich.edu>  
Subject:  One other point 
Show this HTML in a new window? 
Your Dad said that a fellow named Wetzel sang in a duet on the Christmas program.  The name 
seemed familiar so I checked and on Sunday, January 28, 1945 I wrote in my diary:  Taught 
Sunday School again.  Cleworth and Wetzer (handled the church service).  The names are about 
the same.  I tried to check on my original but it is so blurred now that I cannot make out what it 
is exactly.  That night we had 10 attend the vesper service in our barracks which started at 6:00.  
Played some ping pong that night also, although we did not have a regulation table.  I wrote that it 
was a joy to be able to play ping pong. 
    I made a copy of the article about Ike and Monty Meet on Seized Luftwaffe Field from The 
Stars and Stripes, the newspaper put out on Saturday, April 21st.  It does not mention Dieholtz 
but I believe that is where I saw Ike's plane.  It does mention that liberated POWs were present.  I 
did not get that close to Ike.  All I saw was the plane. 
                        John 
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      134 Harmon Mill Court  
      Kernersville, NC 27284 
      October 3, 2010 
 
Ms. Laura Edge 
5528 Briar Glen Dr. 
Saline, MI 48176-9537 
 
Dear Laura, 
 
 The two envelopes you sent have arrived.  Let me comment first on the second 
one which contained the list of names of men from Stalag Luft IV who arrived at Stalag 
357 on March 20, 1945.  All the names have been checked by RMC who is evidently not 
on the list.  None of the eleven names I had in my notebook as members of the Church 
Council were listed on the roster.  The O’Donnell I know and the one who published a 
number of books on pows is J.P. O’Donnell and the one on the list is J. T. O’Donnell.  I 
do remember contacting Joe about the name on the Stalag 357 list and he told me it was 
not him.  I need to delete the footnote regarding this.(Did you see the recipe for black 
bread that Joe put in the latest issue of the EX-POW BULLETIN on page 22?)  I did have 
a copy of the bread recipe.  It was also in the June 2003 ExPOW Bulletin.  It may be 
interesting to try and make this just to get an understanding of what you fellows had to 
eat.  Where would I get edible sawdust?  I did With the exception of your father I did not 
see a name that I recognized.  Sewell W. K(?). may be the Bill Sewell that I knew in 
gunnery school at Las Vegas and met when I arrived in A Lager on September 9, 1944.  I 
never saw or heard from him after I moved to C Lager on September 26th but I did 
mention him on Sept. 9, 10, 17, 20, 23, and mentioned his name in a letter I wrote home 
on the 11th.  I had brought him home with me when we finished gunnery school but I 
have no recollection of that.  This list must include men from all the lagers in Luft IV.  I 
do believe you are right in saying that the men on the list were from all the lagars.  I 
believe the fellows admitted on March 20th were from the barn hospitals, at least I know 
my father and Al Gorashko were.  It amazes me that that large a group arrived at 
Fallingbostel on the 20th of March.  When I took a boxcar ride from the town of Ebbsdorf 
(I am not sure of the spelling.  It may have only one B) to Fallingbostel I thought that we 
were the first to arrive.  When I worked on Dr. Caplan’s Journal I figured that the number 
of men that left camp on February 6, 1944 must have been close to 2600 men.  D Lager 
had about 500 British soldiers and Leonard Rose was in D Lager.  I originally thought 
that D Lager went out first but Leonard told me later that he left, I think, on February 7th.  
About a thousand men were shipped out on January 30th and sent to Barth, the location of 
Stalag Luft I, (mainly for officers).  One of my dad’s crewmates was sent by train to Luft 
I.  Carrol Dillon has written a book about prisoners of war since his brother was a 
prisoner in B Lager.  It was the best book that I had read about the camp.  My copy is still 
in a box out in the garage but I do recall that a group left Luft IV for Nuremburg 
sometime in January and it included his brother.  You might want to contact him.  His e-
mail address is Carrol F. Dillon, cdilloncdlaw@msn.com.  His home address is 263 Island 
Circle, Sarasota, FL 34242 and his phone is 941-349-8475.  I have talked with him on the 
phone and he can be very helpful in some details.  I got the book at a Luft reunion in the 
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late nineties.  It contains a lot of information about the campsite.   He wrote the book 
before I got interested in knowing more about the camp.  I do have Carrol Dillon’s book 
and I agree that it is one of the best.  I read it before I wrote my chapter on Stalag Luft IV 
5 years ago.  It was very helpful.    
 Of interest to me was the name of R. F. Arrowood whose KGF # was 4004 
(Robert F. Arrowood from Sunnyvale, California.  Shot down on 5-8-44.)  and mine was 
4005.  Sgt. H. G. Hembres has the # 4006.  (Couldn’t find anything on him)  I must have 
been close to them at one time.  I think I was issued my number at Luft VI at St. Wendel. 
(My father was POW #1167)  It is possible that I was issued my number at Wetzlar, 
known as Dulag Luft.  I could find no information about these two fellows on the 
internet.  All the men on the list were placed in a barracks. All the barracks in my area 
were occupied by infantry soldiers.  I was placed in a white tent and on April 5th I was 
moved to the same kind of tent next door.  The latrines we used were in the area of the 
barracks.  They were not as good as the ones we had in Luft IV. I believe that the wash 
room was inside a building, not outside as your picture indicates.  Your pictures look 
authentic.  I wonder how you got them.  I don’t think I knew that 357 existed.  The map 
is a bit confusing also.  I lived in the American sector and could walk to other sectors.  It 
was a big camp, even larger than I thought at the time. (My father remembered a wash 
room was inside each barrack.) 
It seems to me that someone should have made a survey of the consequences of the men 
on the list.  These men are documented to have been there at that time.  It does seem to be 
a larger group than one should suspect.  Of course, Luft IV is said to have had 10,000 
prisoners according to the monument on the camp site.  I would guess that most of the 
men on the list are not from C Lager.  Leonard Rose had a list of all the men in C Lager.  
After his death we are not sure what happened to the list.  Joe O’Donnell should know 
more about that than I do.  Let me continue by taking up the draft of your 
Fallingbostel/Oerbke.   
 I just wrote to Joe O’Donnell and asked him about the shower he took.  I had a 
shower on April 11th but I believe he had left camp by then. He states that the story of 
having just ten men in the shower at a time is true.   
 You mention James Davis in the same paragraph having the same anxieties that 
O’Donnell had.  He was arriving at Moosburg and you say from Luft IV.  There were a 
few enlisted men at Luft III at Sagan but most were officers.  Are you sure he was from 
Luft IV?  (Two of dad’s crewmates went out of Luft IV by rail, sent first to Nuremburg, 
Stalag 13B.  Later they were marched out of Nuremburg and were liberated at Stalag 7A, 
Moosburg by Patton).  My copilot walked from Sagen to Moosburg in very cold weather. 
 Check the spelling of the word “merchandise”.  (Thanks for catching this) 
 On March 30th I got a quarter of a Red Cross parcel.  I ate most of it right away.  
Some one stole my bread ration during the night as well as a D-bar.  I believe it was the 
only time that had happened to me.  I probably left it out beside me when I went to sleep.   
 The story of Larry walking away from the formation is of deep interest to me. It 
was much more difficult for him than it was for me.  We were both fortunate to have 
other people help us in time of need.  Most pows are decent people.    
 After footnote #18 you mention April 29th as Easter Sunday.  (You are correct!)  
In 1945 Easter was on April 1st.  It came soon after I arrived in Fallingbostel.  



 Joe O’Donnell sent me an e-mail on September 7th and said that he had a 600 
page book called Die Heidemark by Heinrich Baumann which is all about Fallingbostel 
and the surrounding area.  I do not see much that I recognize in the map you have of the 
camps at Fallingbostel.  One year the Luft IV organization decided to go back to the town 
but I decided not to go that year.  Of course, nothing would be recognized this many 
years later.  I think I just like to go.  I’ve been twice – 1994 and 2000.  
 On October 5th of this year he answered another e-mail from me and confirmed 
that he arrived with the big group and left when they did on the 6th of April.  Three of my 
crew left also and it was years before I saw them again.   
 In your e-mail today (10-7) you mention Clyde Tinker who was quoted in the 
article I had from the Stars and Stripes.  His name was Clyde T. Tinker in the article and 
on your list of 550 names is C. P. Tinker.  That is close enough to be the same person.  I 
do recall that some of the fellows I was with in my tent took off after we were liberated 
and visited a concentration camp which was not far away.  I sort of regretted that I did 
not go with them but I guess it was a good thing not to see what happened there. (I do 
know that you can visit Bergen-Belsen today.  I don’t know if I could handle seeing this.) 
  
 Before liberation I had walked around the camp and wrote that some fellows are 
worse off than I.  After liberation I saw a pair of GIs setting a table with silver 
candlesticks and silverware and having a real feast.  (I can just picture this!  Great!  I 
would like to add this to my chapter.) 
 Let me move on to your  next section entitled Liberated!  Your dad had more 
gumption than I did.  I stayed in camp and did not try to leave.  I wrote a letter home on 
April 18th:  Am still in Germany but at least I’m free.  Should be leaving soon.  I will 
write a longer letter as soon as I get some time and get a bit more settled.  We are eating 
white bread again now.  The other boys are not with me but by the sound of the news they 
should be liberated soon if not already now.  This camp is near Fallingbostel.  I have 
certainly had a lot of experiences lately but that can wait for now.  The main thing is that 
I’m free now.  The British arrived 2 days ago.  Hope I am home before long.  Am well 
and on my way to full recovery. 
 I have an Identity Card for ExPrisoners of War issued at Stalag XI B signed by 
W. P. Lightfoot, Maj  A C. 
 The map of Brussels will be sent to you.  (Thank you so much.  I do look forward 
to seeing this.  Perhaps Ed in Brussels can give us more information after he sees the area 
you have marked on the map.)  I went to Staples to get it copied but they did not have a 
machine that could accommodate that size (15” x 18”).  In Panama City I could have 
done it at Office Depot so I went to the one in Winston-Salem and they could not do it.  I 
called the local newspaper but had no luck.  The only way I think I can get it to you is 
just mail it.  I was going to enclose it with this letter but I think I can e-mail this letter and 
mail the map to you.  The place where I stayed is at the top of the map outlined in ink.  I 
believe that the street car lines are in red.  Soldiers in uniform could ride free.  On the 
opposite side are listed places of interest.  I have given my diary and other artifacts to the 
museum at Andersonville.  You can keep the map.  The chances of my returning to 
Brussels are doubtful.  While I was in Brussels I bought some lace handkerchiefs for my 
mother and sister and sent them to them.  On Sunday, April 22nd, I wrote another letter 
home on YMCA stationery:  It is Sunday morning and I’m still in Brussels.  I have the 



opportunity to stay here as long as I want or leave by plane for either England or France 
any day.  This seems like a wonderful chance to see things so I may delay my coming 
home for awhile and look the city over.  Yesterday I went into town and saw a number of 
interesting places.  Today I want to go to the Conservatory here and see what it is like.  
Perhaps I’ll go to an opera tonight. 
 I am still in British hands.  I don’t mind it at all because they treat us fine.  As 
soon as I leave here I go to the American authorities.  At present, I’m sitting in the 
canteen here now where everything is free.  Yesterday in town I had ice cream again.  
I’m looking forward to a lot of good things to eat when I get home. 
 Guess I’ll quit now.  Will write more later.  Save the last few days’ papers for me. 
(It seems you made it to Brussels before my father.  He writes home on April 27th saying 
he just arrived in Brussels.  He only stayed there one night.)   
 
 Last month I sent you a summary of most of my experiences In Brussels and 
Namur so I won’t repeat them.  I have decided that your father got to the states earlier 
than any other person that I knew in Germany.  I can sympathize with him being in the 
hold during a submarine scare.  On the Arowa, a British ship that took me to England, my 
bunk was the bottom of a stack of four bunks in a room that had been converted from a 
meat packing room.  It was cold and on the ocean it is best to be up on deck to avoid sea-
sickness.  I believe I did finally conquer the nauseous feeling that comes when I get on 
the open seas.  The men who were at Stalag Luft VI at Heydekrug, the camp that was 
located near Lithuania and evacuated by boat where the men were placed in the hold until 
they reached Swinemunde, and then had the bayonet run to the camp from the train 
station Kiefheide (now called Podbursco) to the gates of Luft IV had it worse than most 
of the stories I’ve heard.  A fellow named Claude Watkins gave a report on Luft VI at the 
convention in Birmingham, AL in 1995 that I heard.  It was the first national convention I 
had attended.  He told about burying some men who died in camp and when he went back 
years later to find the graves the Russians had buried hundreds so they could not find the 
Americans.  I believe that one of the reasons the Germans held on to the men of the Air 
Corps was as bargaining chips to exchange for Russian soldiers after the war.  I have 
heard that the US did return many of the Russians who had been taken prisoners during 
the war and wanted to avoid going back to Russia.  I remember feeling sorry for some of 
the German guards who had it as bad as we did and had less to go back to than we did.   
 The pictures of the Barracks Ellerbeek you sent do not register any familiarity to 
me.  It looks like a big place and I do not remember any place quite that size. The 
pictures of the Repatriation Center could be closer to what I recall.  Speaking of pictures 
there were a few pictures taken in Stalag 357 which are interesting.  The ones on the 
internet of Stalag Luft IV are of A Lager, before they built the barracks a yard off the 
ground.  It is a shame that no pictures are available of C Lager.  There is a group of 
pictures taken at one camp by a photographer and it shows a lot of activities going on.  I 
got a book early on entitled “Barbed Wire” which tells about the problems at camp.  It 
was an officer’s camp and not much similar to what we experienced.   
 Finally, after a train ride on April 30th I arrived at Camp Lucky Strike at 2:00 in 
the afternoon.  (It seems my father would have arrived at Camp Lucky Strike on April 
28th he was flown in from Brussels.)  I saw part of a USO show and was placed into a 
tent.  On May 1st it snowed and rained.  (Good grief!  So much for spring.)  I got 



examined by a doctor and got French money for my Belgium money.  Got issued more 
clothes. Got PX rations.  Moved to a new area.  My letter home was dated May 1st and 
marked Air Mail: 
 It may be the first day of May but it is still cold here.  I’ll be glad to get to a warm 
climate again. 
 Finally we left our last station and have moved again. Going through some more 
processing and then awaiting the boat home.  I should be on the ocean again before long 
and undoubtedly I will be sea sick as I was before. 
 I’m sending this air mail as I am able to buy these envelopes here.  I wonder if 
you have been receiving any of the other letters I’ve been writing.  Was going to send a 
cable but they only have form messages and they say it isn’t any quicker.  
 The other boys aren’t with me so I guess I ought to write somebody’s mother 
when I get back at least.  I was luckier than they I think.  We’ll have to have a reunion 
sometime.   
 There isn’t much to write now and besides I’m cold.  Will write more soon. 
 A telegram, date stamped May 3, PM 6 27, reached my mother:  THE 
SECRETARY OF WAR DESIRES ME TO INFROM [sic] YOU THAT YOUR SON 
T/SGT ANDERSON JOHN H  RETURNED TO MILITARY CONTROL 20 APR. 45=  
J A ULIO THE ADJUTANT GENERAL.  (My grandma received the exact same 
telegram only it stated that T/Sgt Witt Lawrence L returned to military control on 16 Apr 
45) 
 Letter dated May 5, 1945 postmarked May 9 in Air Mail envelope: 
 Again I’m just waiting for something to happen.  We have been processed and 
arranged in the final grouping for the shipment home.  Now all we have to do is to wait 
until the time comes to leave.  Army life is half waiting anyway. 
 I had my choice of being sent to either Jefferson Barracks near St. Louis or to Ft. 
Leavenworth as my reception center.  My furlough will start from there.  I decided that 
Ft. Leavenworth was best so I will be sent there.  We shouldn’t stay there longer than 48 
hours.  What I’ve been thinking is that the train will have to go to KC first so I may have 
a lay over there.  I’ll try and inform you about the situation when I reach the states. 
 There aren’t many fellows with me that I know.  One fellow that I met back in 
camp that knows Gene Christy is with me.  He lives near where Gene had his choir.  A 
new bunch of officers came in recently and I’m going to try and look them over.  Maybe 
some of my crew are among them.   
 Just read in the paper where our furlough has been extended from 21 days to 60 
days.  That seems like quite awhile.  I’m hoping I get home in May sometime so I can go 
over to school before it’s out.  60 days ought to be a real vacation and in the summer 
time too 

Here it has been raining every day since I’ve been here.  Weather here in France 
is similar to that in England.  I hope it is warm at home. 
 Saw a couple of movies yesterday to pass away the time.  Don’t know what I’ll do 
today.  The meals are just regular army meals again. I’m looking forward to eating a lot 
when I get home.   
 That’s all for now.  Hope to see you soon.   



 I did go to the Air Force tent and located Lt. Sanborn and Lt. Collins and talked 
with them for awhile.  Sanborn was my navigator and Collins was my bombardier.  It was 
the last time I saw Sanborn.   
 You wrote that “while waiting for that homeward boat, many RAMPs find 
enjoyment in the beautiful spring weather along the coast of France.”  It rained on May 3 
and 4 and most of the time I was there.  (I’ll have to note this.)             
 I have not read Norm Bussel’s book but his story is on the internet and is a good 
story.  It seems that most of the stories I read are much better than mine.  {Check spelling 
of footnote.} (Thanks again.  I appreciate that you read so carefully and catch these 
things.  I’ve met Norm twice at 8th Air Force gatherings.  I appreciate his honesty about 
PTSD.  I know my father suffered from this.)  Norm was in charge of the Foundation for 
awhile.  He attended the reunion we had in Nashville in 2006.   
 Lawrence shares my distrust of sailors but he would probably admit that the Navy 
eats better than the Army.  I left Le Havre on May 6th; he must have left earlier.  His 
encounter with a submarine was on May 4th; we had submarine excitement on the 10th.  I 
heard Churchill speak on the radio while outside the port of Southampton.  I wondered if 
I would see action in the South Pacific.  (This gets confusing.  My father always told the 
story this way - submarine attack the day before VE Day.     
 In order that I could eat what I wanted I volunteered for KP duty on board ship.  I 
still have the early chow ticket which enabled us to eat first.  We only worked every other 
day.  I would serve a serving of say pineapple and then take a spoonful myself.  I think I 
ate too much that day.  When I went to a movie I would take a box of Ritz crackers and a 
box of Baby Ruth candy bars and finish both of them.  I realized I was eating too much 
candy.  I had waited until I was aboard ship before I mentioned I still had diarrhea.  The 
medic gave me medicine but it didn’t work.  He finally said he would give me something 
that would work and it did.   
 My mother received a telegram on May 13 PM 12 51:  SAFE AND WELL 
HAPPY MOTHERS DAY LOVE. 
 On May 17th a  telegram reached my mother:  THE CHIEF OF STAFF OF THE 
ARMY DIRECTS ME TO INFORM YOU YOUR SON T/SGT ANDERSON JOHN H 
IS BEING RETURNED TO THE UNITED STATES WITHIN THE NEAR FUTURE 
AND WILL BE GIVEN THE OPPORTUNITY TO COMMUNICATE WITH YOU 
UPON ARRIVAL= J A ULIO THE ADJUTANT GENERAL (My grandmother received 
the same telegram.) 
 Like the movies or the newsreels we all kept looking for the Statue of Liberty.  
When it cam in sight I must admit that I was moved.  Liberty – that’s what it is all about.   

You do not mention New York but Lawrence must have been among the first to 
arrive after the war.  Walter mentions the gala reception when he arrived.  I don’t think 
anybody noticed my group when they arrived.  We went right to the trains to Camp 
Kilmer.  The first meal we had on American soil was outstanding.  I remember especially 
the steak and ice cream. (Were you in the same convey with my father?  Dad arrived in 
NY on May 19th and had to spend the night in the ship.  They disembarked on May 20th 
and went by train to Camp Kilmer.  On May 24th he arrived at Camp Sheridan, Chicago.  
I have the New York Times article describing the homecoming.  Picture caption:  “A 
transport of four ships that made up the first convoy to arrive in New York Harbor since 
V-E Day, putting into the pier on Saturday.” “Vessels carried 4,381 of our fighting 



men.”. ) That was on May 20th.  On the 21st I was on a troop train headed west.  I arrived 
in KC at 5:00 PM on May 23rd.  If you have John Nichol’s book “The Last Escape” he 
has a passage about my meeting my mother at the Union Station.  (I went back and read 
this part of the book again.  These emotional homecomings bring me to tears.  I can’t 
begin to imagine how that felt.)  I had to go on to Ft. Leavenworth for one more night 
before I could return to KC this time by bus.  Mr. Lantz, the father of an ex-pow from 
Stalag Luft IV was at the station to pick up his son and he brought me home.  I visited 
Winsteads in the Plaza with my family and had a hamburger which I had dreamed of 
often while I was gone.  

On June 21st another of my dreams came true.  I went downtown and marched in 
a parade from 9th and Locust to the Liberty Memorial across from Union Station.  I 
marched with a group of former POWs and many veterans.  Mayor Gage, the governors 
of Kansas and Missouri and General Eisenhower spoke to the assembled crowd.  As a 
boy I had seen veterans of World War I, the Spanish-American War, and even some Civil 
War veterans marching.  Now it was my turn. (Amazing!  I fitting tribute.) 

You have written an interesting book and it has taken a lot of work on your part to 
do it.  I’ll mail you the map of Brussels, the article about Tinker, and maybe some other 
things you might not have.  Do you have a map of Luft IV?  (Yes!)  It was done by 
George Guderley and he was one of the men who helped with the first meeting in Poland 
in 1993 when they erected the memorial.  Joe O’Donnell was another.  I believe he was 
responsible for the map of the march across Germany.  (I do have this as well.) I could 
make copies of both items and send them to you.  Joe tells me that he is working on a 
brick road around the memorial now.  I have enjoyed reading what you have written.  
Thanks for the picture of liberation at Stalag XI B.  I do not see anyone that I recognize.  
Not many of my friends were at the camp at that time.   

Leonard Rose sent me a list of the names and addresses of the men in my room 3 
of Barracks 1 at Luft IV.  I tried to get them to come to a reunion at a national convention 
but had very little success.  I sent them reviews of our meetings but no one seemed to be 
able to attend.  Finally, John Lenburg met me, I believe, at the meeting in Louisville and 
he later sent me a copy of his book.  (Yes, I do have his book.)  You must have a copy 
also as he is on your list of sources.  Unfortunately, he died not long after our meeting so 
I never got to question him like I wanted.  I did see my engineer in Denver in 2005 but he 
does not talk about the war.  We shared a lot of RC parcels together and he was my 
partner in a card game of pinochle with our tail gunner and ball turret gunner as our 
opponents.  The four of us became good friends or more during our stay at Luft IV.  John 
Lenburg was one of 24 men in our room.   

If I can help you in any way feel free to ask.  I like to help whenever I can. 
 
     John          
 



Email from John Anderson October 27, 2010 
 
Hey, Laura, 
    My first assignment was to Stalag Luft VI at St. Wendel.  We never actually got into the camp 
because it was unfinished when we arrived on August 16, 1944.  You can read about this camp 
on the internet.  Roland Geiger, a resident of the town, wrote to Leonard Rose requesting 
information about the camp.  He lives in St. Wendel and had heard that a POW camp was there 
but could not find any record of it.  I was at the convention in Tacoma, WA when his letter was 
read.  Since I was in the first contingent of men to arrive I wrote him and gave him my 
impressions of the camp.  He collected other testimonies and released the information about the 
camp.  After I got his review I conducted a survey and wrote up the results which I sent to the 
editor of the Bulletin as three short articles.  She responded and said she sent them to 
Andersonville but I could not locate them when I was there.  I want to try and see if I can resurrect 
them.  There were no instruments at Luft VI at St. Wendel.  We left on September 5th and rode in 
boxcars to Stalag Luft IV arriving on September 9th.  I was placed in a tent in Lager A until  we 
moved to Lager C on September 26th.  I do not remember any instruments being used in A 
Lager.   
    On October 12th we had a victrola brought into our room in Barracks 1.  Ernest King in my 
room became the person responsible for the repair and coordination of the record players in C 
Lager.  This meant that we usually had one in our room most of the time. 
    Hymnals arrived on October 19th.  It was a big help to have the music for the church services.  
A stove was placed in each room on November 1st.   
    On November 3rd I went to entertainment in the Red Cross room.  I wrote that it may have 
been the first public performance of the jazz band.  On the 4th I got the accordion which had 
arrived and practiced awhile.  While I was at the Conservatory a fellow student gave me ten 
lessons on the accordion.  My sister played the accordion but I never got to be proficient on the 
instrument and was unable to use it in the church service.  We had two accordions in our lager 
and some fellow left the camp in February and carried one of them.  I saw him some where on 
the march and he still had it.  I hope he got to keep it. 
    A new set of hymnals came in on and we used them in the church services.  On November 
20th I copied some music for a trumpet.  One of the records we had was Harry James' version of 
"The Carnival of Venice".  Our trumpet player, whose name is now forgotten, wanted to see this 
on paper so I tried to transcribe it for him.  He gave me a cornet lesson on November 22nd.  I had 
taken trumpet lessons at the Conservatory and it was a fun activity.  The pump organ came in on 
November 22nd.  B Lager got the only piano.  I would have enjoyed having the piano but I got it 
about two days before we left on the march.  However, the organ was a big improvement on our 
music program.   
    I wrote in my diary that we had a jam session in our barracks on November 21st and 25th.  I 
really have no memory of these but it indicates that we had a few instruments.  On November 
26th I helped Manny Baier on the clarinet.  In a letter home I wrote: "More instruments are coming 
in  all the time".     
    On December 1st I wrote out music for organ, violin, and cello and rehearsed with them on the 
2nd.  We had another jam session in the barracks.  We performed "The Bells of St. Mary" on 
Sunday, December 3rd.  It used the three instruments.  The cellist was Charles E. Becker from 
Sheridan, Wyoming.  I don't have the name of the violinist.   
    I had trumpet lessons on December 5th and 6th.  On Sunday, December 10th, the choir sang 
"Send Out Thy Light" by Gounod with the same instruments.   
    Early in December the Germans built a stage in the Red Cross room with extra lights.  The first 
program on the stage was the glee club rendition of a collection of football songs.  I had the 
trumpet player play the melodies and the bridges between the numbers.  We were first on the 
program and the jazz band also played for the first time and there may have been other acts.   
    Some time either in the late nineties or the first few years of this decade I got a copy of a paper 
that was produced in camp that listed all the members of the jazz band.  I remember thinking that 
it would be fun to try and get them together again for another jam session.  I might be able to 
locate my copy of it but maybe not.  It may have been for the Convention in Tucson in 2001 when 
I had some men and a few women to sing what the choir sang in camp.  I used a string quartet for 



the accompaniment but I did refer to the group as an orchestra in camp but it was really just two 
strings and an organ.  We definitely did have instruments in C Lager.  I think the other lagers 
would have as much as we had but I do not know about them.  I remember I was impressed with 
the jazz band which must have had four saxophones, a guitar, drums, and trumpets and 
trombones.  I doubt that they used the pump organ but they may have.  I hope this answers your 
question. 
       Thanks for asking, 
                John     
 



E-Mail to Laura Edge from John Anderson 
February 20, 2011 
 
 
Hey, Laura, 
    It was good to hear from you again.  Today I attended a meeting of the Greater Greensboro 
Chapter of AXPOW.  We meet once a month at the Masonic home in Greensboro and today we 
had 13 present which is about all we have at our meetings.  The chapter I was a part of in Florida 
has decided to stop meeting soon as many of the members have died.  I noticed in the Bulletin 
that the National Convention will be held in Akron, Ohio in September.  I attended quite a few 
conventions but have not been going since the one in Nashville in 2006.  I remember you and 
your father visiting me at the 388th B.G. reunion in Akron.  If I find that I can go this year I'll let 
you know.  I don't go as often as I used to when I was younger. 
    I shall try and locate a copy of the book you recommended.  I think I spend too much time 
reading the daily paper.  A lot of things seem to be happening in the world now and it is 
interesting to see new events happening every day.   
    Yes, I would like to read what you have written.  Let me tell you some of what I remember 
of Dulag Luft.-- 
After a night in jail in Berlin I got to go into a courtyard and talk with three other of my crew 
members.  That afternoon the four of us, two other American fliers, and two German soldiers 
went by truck to the Berlin depot.  As we walked toward the train the place was crowded, almost 
everyone was wearing a uniform and they were all saluting each other.  If they had a gun they 
could turn their head sharply or they could salute with their hand to their forehead or, in some 
cases, give the Hitler salute.  The depot was partly destroyed and I remember thinking that the 
situation reminded me of the Charlie Chaplin film The Great Dictator. 
We rode the train all night and it was a regular passenger train.  One of the soldiers gave us each 
a German equivalent of a Lifesaver which I thought was nice of him.  I sat next to  a blond fellow 
that worried me a bit because I was not sure he was American.  (Sometime around the year 2000 
I found out that he was Winfred Riemer from Brillion, Wisconsin.)  We arrived in Frankfurt just 
after dawn.  We had to walk quite a ways to catch a street car and people were aware of us and 
made comments about us.  I had to carry a suitcase belonging to one of the Germans.  The town 
was a busy place and much damage was observed.  No wonder the people were upset at us.  
The street car took us to Oberursal, the interrogation center.  I was placed in the basement room 
which just had a bench.  Even though it was August 8th the room was damp and I was 
barefooted.  My flying boots and socks came off during my parachute jump.  About an hour later, 
after I was thoroughly chilled, a fellow came and apologized for placing me in the basement.  He 
said they were busy and they finally were getting to me.  He took me to a nice room with the 
window open and a nice bed and said that would be my room.  He would come back later and 
take me for interrogation.  I understood their problem and thought this was the treatment I 
expected.  I was taken to an office awhile later and given a Red Cross form to fill out.  It asked all 
sorts of questions, but I knew I was to tell only my name, rank, and serial number.  My 
interrogator spoke excellent English and sounded like he had been schooled in England.  He said 
to me "What would happen if I died in Germany?  Would I want a Catholic or Protestant funeral?"  
That made sense to me so I said I was a Protestant.  When I refused to answer any more 
questions he told me if I did not cooperate they would put me back in the basement.  Then he told 
me that three bodies had been found in the wreckage of the plane.  The families had to be 
notified.  He knew my bomb group and even mentioned the name of our Commander who had 
been shot down the day I arrived at the base but he thought he was still working.  They did not 
know everything.  I finally revealed the names of the crew members that I thought might have 
been in the crash.  I did not know what happened in front of the bomb bay.  He finally took me to 
a third room with opaque windows and bars and a simple cot with a straw-filled mattress made 
with gunny sack material.  The window would not open and this was my room where I was in 
solitary confinement.  I had a bowl of soup for lunch and bread and butter for supper.  On the 10th 
I was returned to another office for another interrogation, this time by someone who knew more 
about radio.  They asked me about a long-nosed B-17.  I figured they were asking about the B-
29.  The Air Corps had left one out for them to see.  I knew nothing about it.  they asked about 



radar.  I was truthful when I answered I knew nothing.  I talked first to a civilian and then a 
sergeant.  I was sent to a barracks close by and met part of a crew that trained with me in 
Ardmore, OK.  The group left the next morning at 8:30 and it took a long time to go a short 
distance.  We arrived at Wetzlar in the afternoon.  This is what I called Dulag Luft although 
Oberursal also was called that at times.  My first meal in the mess hall was salmon from the Red 
Cross packages.  I had a shower and was issued shoes and clothes from the government.  I 
received a British uniform which was being issued that day.  My shoes were black with hob nails.  
I got a package like a suitcase containing everything I needed, mostly from the Red Cross.  We 
were asked if we had an aged, sick parent.  If we did we could send a notice home that we were 
a prisoner.  I decided not to do so.  I wrote a card home which was dated August 11, 1944 and it 
arrived on October 27th.   
    On the 12th I was on a detail digging for awhile.  I went to the library after dinner.  Meals were 
pretty good.  On Sunday, the 13th, a week after being shot down, three more of my crew arrived.  
They had seen the navigator who had gone to a hospital but no word was available about our 
copilot.  On the 14th the two officers, substitute  pilot and the bombardier, left for Stalag Luft I at 
Barth.  I have a book entitled The Yankee Kriegies by Colonel C. Ross Greening and Sergeant 
Angelo N. Spinelli which shows pictures of baseball games in uniform, basketball and volley ball 
games, sixteen men jammed i not a typical officers' room, typewriters, vegetable gardens, a 
library at Stalag Luft I containing 15,000 volumes, and many other examples of hardships.  "Every 
prisoner dreamed of making a successful break for freedom, but although many tried, only a few 
succeeded." 
    Later that day my ball turret gunner and I were on shipment.  It is late so maybe I had better 
quit for now and write more, if you are interested, later.   
    Thanks for writing.   
                John 
 



Hi, Laura, 
    In checking with my diary I arrived at the 388th Bomb Group on May 25, 1944.  It was the next 
day that I had to go to all the different places on base and get checked in.  I and another radio 
operator named O'Sullivan were assigned to the 561st Bomb Squadron and I learned that the 
Squadron commander had just been shot down.  I did not write down the name but I recognized 
his name when I was asked at Oberursal if he was doing well.  I wrote in the name of  Chamberlin 
about ten years ago when I was checking out my Bomb Group.  Incidentally, O'Sullivan was on 
Sarten's crew and the plane they were flying on August 16, 1944 was hit by a plane  from above 
on the bomb run at Zeitz and the entire crew was killed.  They had six more missions than my 
crew.  If you check the mission to St. Lo on July 24th you will see a picture of the plane -- 
Q297289, dropping anti-personnel bombs on the front lines.  Someone in Sarten's crew took the 
picture of us as they were flying next to us on the mission.  I think it is a great picture.  My pilot 
gave me a copy of the picture many years ago. It was the only time we flew in that plane. 
    I think you did a good job with my experience at Oberursal.  I do not see the need for the 
question marks.   
    The world news is always changing.  Japan's earthquake and tsunami are unbelievable.  Have 
you heard that something will happen on December 21, 2012?  The History Channel has had 
several programs about it lately.  I hope I can last that long.   
    Daylight savings time starts tonight.  I'll probably just sleep an hour longer. 
  
                            John 
 
Laura added later:  John Jones was on the church council at Luft IV.  Dad hung out with him in 
Miami. 
 
Died October 15, 2008 
 
John K. Jones Sr., 83, died Oct. 15. He was an Army Air Corps veteran of World War II, recipient 
of the Prisoner of War Medal and Purple Heart, and was a life member of Disabled American 
Veterans and American Ex-Prisoners of War, and a member of Clovernook Christian Church 
 
Jones, John K., Sr.; Beloved husband of Betty Jane (nee Beaty) Jones; Devoted father of 
Kathleen, Jane, J.K. Jr., Ashley S., and Mark 
Published in the Cincinnati Enquirer on October  17, 2008.  
 
 
 
 
 



E-mail:  8 April 2011 

Here are my comments on your latest chapter.  I look forward to reading some 
more.  Keep up the good work. 

                                      John 

  

  

COMMENTS ON CHAPTER 7 

  

First paragraph:  “shepherds” does not need to be capitalized. 

The second paragraph is excellent.  Your explanation of Dulag Luft is more 
than adequate.  I have always thought that Wetzlar was a place somewhat like 
Kearney, NE – a staging area before going overseas.  I thought that everyone 
went through Wetzlar (Dulag Luft) before being assigned to a luft camp.  I was 
barefooted until I reached Wetzlar.  I was given a uniform  and the day I 
arrived (August 11) they were giving out British air uniforms so I received a 
blue shirt and pants and black hob-nailed boots.  I had been wearing my 
fatigues and I believe I had to turn them in.  The other members of my crew did 
get GI clothes. Two arrived at Wetzlar ahead of me and two two days later.  
The Red Cross also issued me a plastic (?) suitcase with items needed to live 
comfortably.  I should have listed the items but I only wrote , “Got package of 
everything you need from Red Cross.  Good for them.”  I think it contained a 
washcloth, towel, toothbrush, tooth powder, pajamas, razor, handkerchief, and 
sweater.  The sweater was dark blue which went well with my uniform.  It had 
a note attached saying that it had been contributed by the Conway American 
Red Cross.  About three years ago I wrote to the AMC in Conway, AR and 
thanked them for the gift.  I wore it all winter including the march across 
Germany.  It may have included toilet paper, a comb, and even a pencil.  I did 
have a pencil rather early in my pow career which was fortunate for me.  If 
your father missed Wetzlar he missed a lot of good things.  Laura’s note:   Red 
Cross Capture Kit:  Contains extra clothes, underwear, soap, toothpaste, razor 
Life Magazine January 22, 1945 mentions capture kits contain soap, clothing, etc. for 
new prisoners.  

  



          We were asked if we had an aged, sick parent.  If we did we could send a 
notice that we were a prisoner.  Although I had lost my father on the day after 
Easter in 1943 I decided not to take advantage of the opportunity.  I did write a 
card home on August 11 which my mother received on October 27.   

          Page 4:  hyphen needed between “sawdust” and “litter”. 

          Page 5:  no comma needed between “components” and “litter”. 

          Page 6:  “it’s” only stands for “it is”.  The possessive “its” does not have 
an apostrophe. 

          Page 7:  I admit that I do not know what it means to be a “lance 
corporal”, but I would not think it is a “rung below the first and second 
lieutenants”.  I would place the rank of Warrant Officer is just below 
lieutenants. 

          Page 8:  comma needed after “Lastly”.  I have seen the Red Cross form 
on the internet.  You could probable find it also if you want to include it.  

          Page 9:  Mentioning that I was interrogated on August 8th would help 
illustrate your point.   

          Page 11:  spelling of “breathe”. 

          Page 13:  next-to-last paragraph ends with a phrase instead of a sentence.  
It is OK if that is what you want to say.   

          Page 16:  hyphen needed between “twenty” and “minute”. 

          Page 17:  You are writing about Jim Davis being at Hohemark Hospital.  
When you mention Walter Lawrence being drive there on July 7 you should 
precede it by mentioning when he arrives at Oberursal.  It was a bit confusing.  
Maybe it would help by having one paragraph instead of two. 

          The telegram my mother received was worded exactly the same except 
for the name and date.  I was shot down on August 6 and the telegram came on 
August 22.  I wondered if your mother received a letter from General Ulio 
explaining what “mission in action” meant.  She  got the letter on August 25:   

          This letter is to confirm my recent telegram in which you were regretfully 
informed that you son, Technical Sergeant John H. Anderson, 37,502,787. Air 



Corps, has been reported missing in action over Germany since 6 August 
1944.   

          I know that added distress is caused by failure to receive more 
information or details.  Therefore, I wish to assure  you that at any time 
additional information is received it will be transmitted to you without delay, 
and, if I the meantime no additional information is received, I will again 
communicate with you at the expiration of three months.  Also, it is the policy 
of the Commanding General of the Army Air Forces upon receipt of the 
“Missing Air Crew Report” to convey to you any details that might be 
contained in that report. 

          The term “missing in action” is used only to indicate that the 
whereabouts or status of an individual is not immediately known. It is not 
intended to convey the impression that the case is closed.  I wish to emphasize 
that every effort is exerted continuously to clear up the status of our personnel.  
Under war conditions this is a difficult task as you must readily realize.  
Experience has shown that many persons reported missing in action are 
subsequently reported as prisoners of war, but as this information is furnished 
by countries with which we are a t war, the War Department is helpless to 
expedite such reports.  However, in order to relieve financial worry, Congress 
has enacted legislation which continues in force the pay, allowances and 
allotments to dependents of personnel being carried in a mission status.   

          Permit me to extend to you by heartfelt sympathy during this period of 
uncertainly. 

          Sincerely yours, J. A. Ulio major General The Adjutant General 

           

          My mother wrote a letter to Ardmore OK where our crew training had 
taken place after she received the telegram and requested the names and 
addresses of the crew members on my crew.  Captain Kenneth D. King, 
Adjutant, responded and sent what she wanted.  In the yearbook or whatever it 
should be called that we received from Ardmore when we finished I found the 
picture of First Lieutenant Kenneth D. King, Assistant Base Adjutant.  He 
evidently went up in rank and position.  My mother then proceeded to write all 
the mothers or wives and carried on a lively correspondence until I was 
liberated.  I included all the letters they wrote to my mother in my notebook.   



          Mother received another telegram dated September 7, 1944  6:50 PM 
which read: 

          REPORT JUST RECEIVED THROUGH THE INTERNATIONAL RED 
CROSS STATES THAT YOUR SON TECHNICAL SERGEANT JOHN H. 
ANDERSON IS A PRISONER OF WAR OF THE GERMAN 
GOVERNMENT   LETTER OF INFORMATION FOLLOW FROM 
PROVOST MARSHAL GENERAL=  J A ULIO THE ADJUTANT 
GENERAL 

          This arrived 31 days after I was shot down..   

          After my name in the Oral History Interviews I think it should be Luft IV 
and Stalag XI B.  I never knew about Stalag 357 until the 21st century. 

  

          A date near the beginning of the chapter would help the reader.  You 
mention May 12th on page 5 which is good.   

          I think you have some good material here.  Keep at it.  I enjoy being a 
reader of such an interesting story.  I haven’t got to read The Interrogator yet 
but I shall get to it before long.   

 



6-10-2011:  John Anderson to Laura Edge 
 
Comments on Chapter 8,--Behind Barbed Wire 
 
Page 2 – The warning wire is what everybody called it but it was a misnomer.  It was not 
a wire at all.  It was a simple piece of wood supported by vertical stakes that were around 
the perimeter of the inside of the compound.  The rule was that you could not touch the 
“wire”, nor go beyond it to fetch a ball.  We were told that guards in the tower with a 
machine gun would fire on any transgression.   They would fire without warning if 
provoked.  Of course, some men would try and see if they could provoke the guard but it 
was not a wise action to be near the transgressor.  It was easier to stay completely away 
from the structure which was about 18 inches high.  We always wondered if the barbed 
wire at the top of the fence was electrified.  It certainly looked like it could be.  It made 
climbing the fence a less possible escape route.   
My computer says that the first page is page 0.  Thus I may place the wrong number on 
the page.  I hope you can figure it all out. 
The first sentence on page 2 is where you give the Kriegsgefangenen number of your 
father.  How did you get that information?  Surely the Germans would not try to fool the 
Red Cross.  [?]  I wish someone would do a study on the numbers.  The earlier pows were 
sent to Luft VI at Heydekrug, a city in East Prussia, near Lithuania.  I heard that it opened 
in June 1943 and was evacuated when the Russians approached in middle July 1944.  
Lawrence could have been sent there and been on the bayonet run near the end of July.  I 
corresponded with a fellow named Jack Paget in November, 1999.  He wrote that there 
were two more runs other than the one with the fellows from VI.  He arrived on or about 
July 28th, 29th or 30th.  He is not sure of the exact date.  He ends by writing “As I recall 
the Red Cross out of Switzerland got ‘wind’ of it and applied pressure on the German’s to 
put a stop to it.”  He has written a book entitled Destiny’s Child.  I ordered it and read it 
and reported to him on July 22, 2000 that “Today I finally finished your book that you 
sent me.”  I told him that a fellow in my room in Barracks 1 did his story and entitled it 
Kriegsgefangenen #6410.  [You have that book also.]  He wrote back that his number 
was 6411.  It’s a small world after all.  I expect his book is in my garage and I should try 
and locate it.  I guess it did not make a big impression on me.  He sent me his phone 
number in Grass Valley, CA.  It is getting to be more difficult to contact people my age.  
I called about five times but the line was always busy.  I tried to find the deposition of 
Capt. Wynsen but could not locate it.  I have no memory of this doctor at all.  He must 
have gone out with A Lager.  C Lager was probably the last group to leave camp. 
 You mention the dogs snare and snap.  Should it be snarl and snap? 

The story of the birth of Greenwood’s son is quite moving.   
 Footnote # 8 should indicate where the prisoners were stationed first.  Actually, 
there were two camps called Stalag Luft VI, one at Heydekrug and the other at St. 
Wendel.  I was in the first contingent of soldiers sent to St. Wendel and we were only 
there for 20 days.  The postcards at Luft IV indicated that it was a sub-division of Luft 
III.  I don’t believe I ever heard that Luft IV was actually at Luft III for awhile.   
Page 4:  I have heard of the dog huts but I think they were only found in Lager B.  Two 
barracks in D Lager were filled with British fliers.  When I was in A Lager I stayed in a 
tent.  I was glad when I got to go to C Lager on September 26 and be housed inside.  The 



stoves were placed in the rooms on November 1st.  When I first went into C Lager I was 
in Barracks 5 and was in a double room.  Some of the other barracks may have had the 
same situation.  I was able to exchange my place in 5 for a place in 1 so I could be with 
three of my crew members.  I am so glad it worked out that way.   
Page 6:  I remember the Green Hornet.  He spoke good English.  When you mention Big 
Stoop I don’t think you need hyphens in “fifty years old”. 
Page 9:  The name “goon” was a character in Popeye.  It became quite popular for awhile 
and appeared in the comic strip a number of times.   A goon had a long nose and was an 
ugly creature but it did not have much sense as I recall.  I never heard that it came from a 
British comic strip.  Maybe I’ll check it out. 
Page 11:  You have the story essentially correct but let me go over it again.  I thought I 
had a copy of the story I sent to Readers Digest some time after the war but have not been 
able to put my hands on it.  It was sent in response of the request for stories of Humor in 
Uniform in the early fifties.  I got no response.  Let me give it to you as I wrote it in my 
notebook.  The pump organ had come into the compound on November 22nd.  After lunch 
on the 25th I went to the Red Cross room, where we had placed the organ, in order to 
practice.  The Red Cross room was our main meeting place.  The library was located in 
one corner of this room.  A couple of Germans came into the room while I was playing 
Silent Night.  One of the guards remarked, “Ach! Stille Nacht”.  He motioned that he 
would like to try and play it.  I got up and the German played the carol quite well.  
Turning the pages of the hymnal I asked the guard to play other tunes:  Hark! the Herald 
Angels Sing, Away in the Manger, and Glorious Things of Thee Are Spoken, all of which 
the German immediately recognized and played.  The talking of the other American 
prisoners in the same room abruptly stopped when they turned in amazement to see the 
German playing the one forbidden piece, The Star-Spangled Banner.   
On Sunday the 26th we had church service in the wash room.  Padre Jackson spoke and I 
played the organ.  The organ was portable so it was easy to move around.  I believe that I 
was able to get another soldier to play the organ at most of the church services after that. 
Page 14:  In the first sentence use a comma rather of a semicolon.  Before the last 
paragraph you do no need the word “the”. 
Page 15:  In our pinochle game we decided to play until the war was over.  It probably 
was every day at first, but when I started to be busy teaching we seldom got to play. The 
engineer and I played against the tail gunner and ball turret gunner.  When they were 
ahead 5,000 to 3,000 they wanted to know if we wanted to quit.  We told them we were 
just getting started.  When we got to be 5,000 ahead we did decide to quit.  There was no 
way they could catch up with our big lead.  On September 30 we played a game of 
Monopoly.  I think we did it mostly by memory.   
 On October 14th the cooks had conducted a survey and we  were served a 
hamburger for supper.  They saved the meat ration for a week and were able to fix a 
hamburger for everyone.  It was a big help to our morale.  When I attended a national 
convention in Birmingham in 1996 I met Nicholas  A. Mahalik who was one of the 
cooks.  I believe he had a room in the Red Cross room close to the kitchen.  He was 
proud of that accomplishment.   
 On October 19th I watched a hypnotist put on a good show.  It was Morton 
Warnow, the son of Mark Warnow who was a well-known orchestra leader.  He put one 
fellow under and had him regress to the age of five.  He had trouble tying his shoes and 



was bashful when asked about girls.   He even talked with a youthful voice.  When told 
he had wet his pants he started to cry.  One or two fellows could not be hypnotized.  It 
was a good show.  I contacted Morton about a decade ago.  He lived in Danbury, CT.  He 
had a website on teaching deaf people.  
Page 17:  Our first glee club performance was on December 14th.  I had an early rehearsal 
and they sang at 1:00.  Early in December the Germans built a stage in the Red Cross 
room with extra lights.  This may have been because the Germans had renewed vigor, the 
Battle of the Bulge began two days later, or maybe they just decided to be helpful.  Tom 
Edwards was from New York and was a promoter of sorts. He had arranged for the 
program to be performed, and we had a full house.  The glee club sang a group of football 
songs which included Minnesota, Hats Off to You; Indiana, my Indiana; On Wisconsin; 
and a few more.  I had gone around camp and found fellows who knew the words and the 
melody of a football song and wrote out the melodies for trumpet with an interlude 
between numbers to allow the music to modulate and get ready for the next song.  I am 
not sure if I included Hail to the Victors Valiant from Michigan or the Notre Dame fight 
song which I only knew with words that were about drinking.  The words were 
committed to memory and we sang the numbers with the trumpet accompaniment.  The 
medley ended with On Wisconsin with the words “fight, fight, fight, we’ll win this 
game”.  The audience responded vigorously.  I was taking a bow in front of the group 
when the interpreter said to me, “It is forbidden to sing fight song.”  I told him it was 
football song, very common in the U.S.  He said, “Who gave you permission to sing fight 
song?”  I pointed out Tom Edwards and then led my group off stage.  The jazz band also 
played on the program and there must have been some other acts as well.   
 After the program I brought the organ into my barracks.  Steve, one of the English 
medics, lived in room 2 and he had a nice voice, so I wanted to rehearse for the upcoming 
program in our hallway just before Christmas.  William Stevens was from Leeds, 
England and had been shot down in September 1939 do had been a prisoner for five 
years.  He had been all over Germany and had finally ended up here.  He had learned 
about pharmacy and thus became a medic.  He sang a number of songs from the hymn 
book called Best-loved Hymns containing 177 pieces.  He roomed with Kenneth Warren 
from Plymouth, England.  The two conducted Sick Call everyday after the morning roll 
call.  If they could not help the patient they took him to the Vorlager to see a medical 
doctor.  A small hospital was available also.   
Page 18:  Somehow I ended up with the Minstrel Show program on two sheets of paper 
written by Tom Edwards.  I believe we did all the numbers listed.  Letters following the 
titles are in my handwriting and refer to the beginning note.  I also wrote in Sleepy Time 
Down South and Shortnin’ Bread.  My main job was to train the singers.  
 At the time Minstrel Shows had been popular in the United States for about a 
hundred years since the first minstrel show on record took place in 1843.  Mr. 
Interlocutor was center stage with the soloists and end men on either side.  The chorus, 
composed of members of the glee club and the choir, were in the back rows in black face. 
The entrance used the song Weep No More.  The opening chorus was Waiting for the 
Robert E. Lee.  The Parade of Men had the end men each doing a solo:  Moonlight & 
Roses by Sommers, Beautiful Dreamer by McDonald, Alex Ragtime by McGonigle, 
Darktown Strutters by O. Leary, Shine on Harvest Moon by Phillips, and finally Swanee 
and Sleepy Time Down South by all.  A quartet sang O Susanna and Camptown.  Next 



came a soft shoe number and a Whistler.  The Haymakers Band did St. Louis Blues.  
Under comic routine is Shortnin’ Bread and K.G.F. Jones.  This last number needs some 
explanation.  On a flimsy piece of paper I have the words of a popular number during the 
thirties: 
 
There’s a big holiday everywhere 
For the Jones family has a brand new heir. 
He’s a joy H[eaven] sent 
As we proudly present 
Mr. F[ranklin] D. R[oosevelt] J[ones]. 
 
When he grows up he never will stray 
With the name like the one he’s got today. 
How can he be a dud or a stick in the mud 
When he’s F D R J? 
 
For the program F D R Jones was changed to K G F Jones which stood for 
Kriegsgefangenen Jones.  I think that is a nice touch. 
Spoons is listed at the bottom of the program. 
The show was scheduled to be done in early January but it was not ready. 
The program was presented on January 25, 26, and 27, 1945.  We had worked hard on the 
minstrel show and the opening number went well but the applause was light.  As 
Interlocutor I then said, “Gentlemen, be seated.”  Next, I greeted the audience.  I 
remember the feeling I had as the show began and I was really savoring the experience.   
Tom cued me to continue but it took me about five seconds to get under way.  He didn’t 
like that so the next day I joined the chorus.  I learned a lesson I never forgot.  You must 
keep the tempo of the show moving.  
 You might be interested in what I have in my notebook..  Since it is almost at the 
end of our stay in Luft IV I’ll write out the final few days as I wrote them and the 
comments I made when I put it all together in 1994. 
 In my diary on January 25th I wrote:  Went to morning devotion.  Washed clothes.  
Had [performance of minstrel show]. Had a dead audience.  Took a hot shower. It really 
felt good.  This was the second shower I had in camp, the first being on January 17th.  At 
the first shower we were marched to a building near the front of the camp and the shower 
was delightful.  The only trouble was that after getting wet they turned the water off and 
we were told to lather up.  Then we only got cold water to rinse with.  Still it was a big 
improvement over trying to bathe in the wash room with a pan of water. We had more hot 
water this time.  The last shower I had was on February 5th, the day before we went on 
the march.  Life was getting to be quite nice in camp.  Walked around camp.  Led [Bible 
study] and then round table discussion on the movies.  We have good times here. 
 On the 26th I had to blacken my face and it was hard to get off.  I believe the 
audience’s response was better than the day before.  I cannot remember if Tom took the 
role of Mr. Interlocutor or not.  I wrote a letter home but it never arrived.   
 On the 27th after the performance I attended Bible study in barracks and then had 
a discussion on college education.   



 On Sunday, January 28th, I taught Sunday School again.  Brian Cleworth and 
Wetzer handled the church service.  I wrote a letter to my sister which did not get home. I 
played some ping pong in our barrack’s wash room.  It was a joy to be able to play ping 
pong even if we did not have a regulation table.  We must have had a net, paddles and a 
ball, all probably from the Red Cross.  The YMCA also contributed a lot of materials. 
 29th:  Big blizzard.  Snowed all day.  Went to morning devotion.  Peeled spuds.  
Went to choir practice.  Had 20 in choir.  Had church council meeting.  Had vesper 
service.  Played records for fellows.  They asked for more classical records.  Wish we 
had a lot more. One of the records we had was the Overture to William Tell which 
everyone knew and enjoyed.  I gave some background on Rossini and played the record. 
I do not remember the other record I played.   
 30th:  Been in army two years.  First shipment of fellows left.  Cleworth went with 
them.  Went to morning devotion.  No Bible study.  Washed clothes.  Something about to 
happen soon.  Played some chess.  Had vesper service and then debate—Post-war 
Immigration.  Affirmative won.   
 All the prisoners who had been wounded or were sickly were taken out and 
shipped by railroad somewhere.  Recently I heard that they went to the camp at Barth.  
Then B compound was evacuated and the men in that compound were divided into the 
other three compounds.  Soon after that happened, in fact I think it was that evening, a 
group of prisoners of other nationalities came into B compound from the north, stayed a 
night, and then marched on.  The marchers were in sad shape and we began to worry 
about having to march also, but the Germans assured us that the Americans would stay.  
Only the other nationalities were marching.  Camp seemed to be the best of the 
alternatives.   
 31st:  Went to morning devotion.  Played more chess.  Getting almost no bread or 
rations for quite awhile.  Had choir practice and church council meeting.  Inducted 3 
new members.  Played cards.  Had vesper service.  Frenchy gave lecture on The Lugar.   
 February 1st:  A new month.  Quite slippery out.  Went to morning devotion.  
Played chess.  Rations finally began to come in again.  Had vesper service.  Crawford 
led.  Had round table discussion on Swing vs. Classics.  Couldn’t sleep.    
 2nd:  Getting warmer.  Soup for lunch.  Equipment from B lager to our lager.  
Piano came too.  Moved to upper bunk.  Steve gave lecture on aircraft combustion. 
 I believe two more men came into our room, this time from B lager.  I had 
forgotten that we got the piano from B lager.  I remember going with a group into B 
compound to remove some items, and it was obvious that the prisoners who had stayed 
there had been hungry.  I recall some one saying that they had even cooked and eaten 
some grass.  I doubt that now.  I remember they had emptied some powder they had 
found. 
 By having a piano available my joy must have been complete.  By teaching music 
to a number of fellows in camp I had learned a number of techniques that worked as well 
as a few that didn’t.  This was also a help to me when I started teaching theory at the 
University of Georgia in 1947.  The only trouble was that the war ended too soon.  
Despite the deprivations—not enough food, really cold weather, barbed wire, practically 
no materials with which to work—I really was having a good time and learning a lot.  We 
all felt that something was going to happen, but we did not know what.  We had been 
assured that we would remain in camp until the war was over.  We began to hear what 



sounded like guns in the distance.  Life went on with a bit more pressure from events 
beyond our control.  
 3rd:  Wet out.  Went to morning devotion.  Had barley for breakfast.  Had choir 
practice.  Worked some more on sermon.  I’m not sure _____?__.  Andy came over.  Met 
church council of lager B.  Had vesper service in barracks.  14 there. 
 As a member of the church council it was my turn to preach at the Sunday service 
if the Padre did not show up.  I was not a preacher but I did write out a sermon in my 
notebook which I hoped I would not have to give.  Leading the singing and the choir was 
not difficult.  I knew I could do that.  Preaching was more demanding.  I thought up 
another prayer I could give during the service.  I tried to be prepared. 
 One of the boys who came into our room had the most unbelievable story of all.  
He was a tail gunner who turned around during the mission and found that the tail had 
been cut off from the plane and that his chute was not there.  It reminds me of a scene in 
the  movie Memphis Belle.  The tail section floated (?) down and evidently hit the earth 
on an upswing.  He was unconscious for awhile but lived through the experience.  Often 
at night he relived the experience, and we had to wake him up to stop his screaming.   
 On this day the Allies dropped 3,000 tons of bombs on Berlin. 
 Sunday, the 4th:  Taught Sunday School class.  Led song service waiting for Padre 
Davis but he came.  Good crowd at church.  Took a nap.  Lights went dim for awhile.  
Maurer led vesper service.  Had 20 there.  Getting more each week.  Talked awhile. 
 The church service started with singing some hymns.  When the Padre failed to 
come I had them sing some more.  Finally, it seemed obvious that he wouldn’t make it.  I 
had one of the assistants read my text and the Padre arrived.  He wanted us to sing one 
more hymn while he got settled.  I was saved at the last moment although I thought my 
sermon had more meaning than the one the Padre gave.  Maybe, some day, I’ll have the 
opportunity to preach.   
 My notes remained in my notebook for almost 49 years before I really looked at 
them again.  My pastor at the First United Methodist Church in Mexico Beach, Florida, 
where I was choir director, had to be out of town and asked me to pinch-hit for him.  I 
gave my sermon (?) and it was not as bad as I had anticipated.  I covered the material 
quickly and filled up the rest of the time talking about my experiences in Germany. 
 Joe O’Donnell has published some books about prisoners of war and I met him on 
my first trip back to the camp site in 1994.  He was doing another book and asked for 
some recollections or stories to be sent to him.  I sent him a copy of the sermon and the 
program of the Minstrel show.  He included both in his next book. I thin he has published 
at least four books. 
 5th:  Cold.  Went to morning devotion.  Our barracks went to have showers again.  
It sure felt good. Had choir practice.  Started “Men and Music”.  Had hymn service.  
Played organ.  Had round table discussion on Cha____?___.   
 Unfortunately, the last line is unreadable, but I can recall what happened.  Word 
reached u s that evening that the camp would leave in the morning.  Lights would be on 
an extra length of time in order to get ready.  It did not take long to pack up.  I ate some 
of the food I had stashed away which would be hard to carry.  I got all my choir music, 
my hymnals, my knife, fork and spoon, a powdered milk can to use for drinking, the 
library book I was reading, and probably the other few things I had accumulated.  We 
were told we would march three days, rest one, march two more days and arrive at a new 



camp.  At least, it seemed as if we were nearing the end.  What we didn’t know was that 
the instructions were wrong.   
Page 18:  For awhile the library was a popular place.  Sometimes you had to wait in line 
as long as a half hour in order to get in.  I expect I averaged about a book a week while I 
was in camp.  I even read some Shakespeare.   
 Ernest King, who was in my room, was in charge of the Victrolas.  I forget how 
many were in camp, but he was always fixing one so our room had the benefits of music 
almost whenever we wanted it.  Ernest had been in the underground for awhile after 
being shot down and tried to get into Switzerland.  When that proved to be  impossible he 
went south and was captured crossing into the Pyrenees.  He kept a diary also and had a 
book published which he sent to me.  He mentions the weather conditions almost every 
day and he attended the Minstrel Show on the first day.  His comments were not too 
flattering.  I recall that he mentioned someone trying to reach a soldier named King and 
he found it was a call for a fellow in the next room.  Julius King and I became good 
friends while we were members together in the Panama City Chapter of AXPOW.  After 
a couple of years in NC I think that we are about ready to unpack the books in the garage.  
You might be interested in King’s book if I can find it.   

Paper was hard to come by at first.  For my work in music theory I needed staff 
paper with the lines on it.  Since that was not available we had to draw the staff lines and 
that is what the student had to do before he came to his lesson.  My engineer, August 
Maurer, who is still alive at age 93 in Denver, studied with me for a few weeks before we 
had an organ available and never heard any of the music he wrote.  That may have been 
somewhat of a first. 

Our Christmas parcel was given to us on December 24th.  I did not open mine 
until Christmas Day.  We had received a full parcel on Thanksgiving week and this was 
the second time we got a full parcel.  According to a newspaper article my mother saved I 
read:  American Red Cross Christmas packages for prisoners of war arrived in 
Europe for distribution to captive Yanks in German prison camps, in time for 
Christmas, according to Basil O’Connor, chairman of the American Red Cross.   

The packages were shipped from Philadelphia in. order to arrive in time for 
Christmas despite delays in transportation through war areas, O’Connor said.  A 
large reserve was included to allow for men who might be captured during the 
months between August and December.   

The packages contain turkey, plum pudding, sausages, strawberry jam, nuts, 
fruit bars, dates, canned cherries, chewing gum, deviled ham, cheddar cheese, 
butter, bouillon cubes, tea, honey, cigarettes, smoking tobacco, a pipe, a washcloth, 
playing cards, a game, and two pictures of American scenes.   

The American Red Cross instructed the international committee in Geneva 
to distribute the regular weekly food parcel to American prisoners of war in 
addition to the Christmas package, the national chairman stated. 
 At our camp we got the Christmas parcel in place of the regular parcel. I believe 
the food items were allowed to remain unopened for a change.  One of the most hilarious 
and yet tragic events happened that evening or the next day.  One of the boys was heating 
his can of turkey on the stove when it blew up. He was soon scrapping turkey off the 
ceiling, the walls, and everything else. What a tragedy!  Yet, it was funny.   
Page 22:  Insert the word “are” in the second paragraph after “regularly”.     



 One event I should mention that happened while I was in A Lager (during the 
month of September) that most fellows who were there remember is that three planes of  
German origin came flying over the camp.  They began to do acrobatics and we were all 
watching them when one of the planes did not pull out but plunged into the ground a 
short ways off from the camp.  Instantly, a cheer went up and the guards in the towers got 
visibly more nervous.  I decided not to cheer. We were all told to go inside.  I did not 
indicate the day it occurred.   
 I was glad when we moved from the tents in A Lager to the barracks in C Lager.  
It was already getting cold at night and I was glad to get inside.   
 In a letter written by my mother on Christmas Day, which I did not read until it 
was returned to Kansas City in late June, she wrote, “We hope you will soon be getting 
our letters, also the boxes.”  Boxes is plural, but nothing more ever arrived.  She did 
make a list of what was sent in one box:  2 pr. socks; 1 Kraft dinner; Grape Nuts; 1 lb. 
prunes; 4 Life Savers; 15 tea bags; 3 Mars bars; 1 box spaghetti; 2 condensed vegetable 
soup; 1 6oz. chocolate bar, Nestles; 1 8oz. cocoa; 5 Powerhouse bars; 1 coin trick, block 
puzzle; 1 Christmas card; 3 pkgs chicken noodle soup; 1 Betty Crocker vegetable noodle 
soup; 2 pkgs. Dried puddings; 1 book, Lost Horizon; 1 pkg. red hots; 1 4oz. Baker 
chocolate bar; 1 lip pomade; Kleenex papers; 1 box cough drops; 5 picture post cards; 1 
bag peppermint candy; Baking Powder; Soda; Malted Milk Tablets; Salt; and 1 rag.  
Cloves, cinnamon and 1 shorts have been scratched out.  Everything is listed with its 
price.  The total was $5.17.  If I had received that box I believe I would have been in 
seventh heaven. 
 One  of the duties we had every day was to peel a bucket of potatoes in the 
morning for the dinner meal.  Each room solved the problem in different ways.  In some 
rooms everyone would peel two or three potatoes and be finished in about five to ten 
minutes, or two or more people could be assigned the task in a rotating manner.  The job 
wasn’t too bad fat first, but when the weather got bad it was a cold, disagreeable task.  It 
was possible to do the peeling in the wash house, but it was unheated there and nobody 
liked doing it in the cold.  Some fellows in our room had other duties such as sweeping 
up, or caring for the stove, or collecting the coal briquettes, bringing the food to the room, 
closing the shutters at sundown, etc.  Peeling the potatoes was one of my chores which I 
did almost daily for quite awhile.  Then we found that if you went to pick up the potatoes 
late enough the supply had run out.  It became the norm for our room to just skip the task 
altogether.  Our transgression of the rule was found out and was brought to the attention 
of our governing council.  They decided to omit us from one day’s food rationing and 
eliminate our coal ration for some period of time (I forget exactly). We had it coming.  
Our sins had been found out, and we took our punishment.  We stayed out of our cold 
room until bedtime.  
 Two roll calls were held each day.  Other than that we were pretty much on our 
own.  One of the best activities was to meet some one new and walk around the 
compound getting acquainted.  Each person had experiences an unusual series of events 
which led him to this place.  I had it easy compared to a lot of the stories I heard.  I 
remember one fellow parachuted into the Zeider Zee.  That was a place I had read about 
in grammar school.  Each story I heard seemed to be more exciting than mine.  At roll 
call we all stood in front of the barracks in rows of five.  The guard would count each 
side of the compound, barracks 1 to 5 and 10 to 6.  then they would total up the count as 



they walked back to Der Hauptmann (the German captain).  If the tally was not correct 
they counted again.  Some days roll call lasted over an hour.  A search of the barracks 
came when it was decided some one was missing.  I remember one poor fellow had fallen 
asleep and no one had awakened him.  I expect he spent some time in solitary 
confinement.  Only a couple of times can I remember when the weather was so bad we 
had roll call inside.   
 We were locked in the barracks at sundown and lights were out about nine 
o’clock.  Shutters were placed over the windows.  We often had conversations going in 
the room after lights out.  The barracks were built about 3-4 feet off the ground so it was 
impossible to dig a tunnel.  Dogs roamed in the compound at night.  We were a short 
distance from the Baltic Sea, but if we had got that far it would be hard to cross that sea. 
 Except for Thanksgiving week and Christmas week we were on half-rations of 
Red Cross food all the time we were in the camp.  Each item distributed was shared with 
another person.  A standard food package issued by the Red Cross to POWs included the 
following:  1 7oz. carton of Type K 2 biscuit; 1 8oz carton of processed cheese; 2 4oz. 
bars of ration D chocolate; 5 packages containing 100 cigarettes; 1 4oz. tin of soluble 
coffee; 1 12oz. tin of corned beef; 1 15oz. carton of dried fruit (prunes or raisins); 1 6oz. 
tin of liver paste; 1 16oz. tin of whole milk powder; 1 16 oz. tin of oleomargarine; 1 4oz. 
tin of orange concentrate; 1 12 oz. tin of pork luncheon meat (Spam); 1 8 oz. tin of 
salmon; 2 2oz. bars of odorless soap; and 1 8oz. carton of white lump sugar. 
 In camp a lot of trading went on every time we got some Red Cross food.  
Cigarettes were our medium of exchange.  A box of prunes cost one pack; a can of 
powdered milk cost four packs; a chocolate bar cost a pack; Spam went for a pack; some 
parcels had raisins instead of prunes, they cost a pack and a half.  Sometimes prices 
would fluctuate but normally you could make a deal for what you wanted.   
 In October we had tournament between the ten barracks in football.  Since I was 
not a football player I helped make up some yells for Barracks 1.  We never won a game. 
A game always had a good crowd.   
 For every meeting such as morning devotion a German interpreter had to be 
present.  On October 14th we must have started without him, so he broke it up when he 
arrived.   
 My ball turret gunner, Donald Nelson, got the most mail of anyone I knew.  His 
first card arrived on November 4th. On the 6th he got seven cards.  On the 23rd he got 5 
more cards.  On December 2nd he got 2 more.  On the 19th he got 4 cards and a letter.  On 
the 21st he got another letter and more cards.  Finally, on December 27th I received a letter 
from home.  It was a real morale booster.  After I got   home I got to read 8 letters sent to 
me at the 388th Bomb Group marked missing by Capt. J. R. Gross and returned to sender.  
18 letters sent to me in Germany were also returned.   
 On January 14th I went walking with Andy and Nelson.  When we got to Barracks 
7 (it may have been 8) we found that some of the fellows had poured water outside and it 
had frozen which made a great slide.  It was the longest man-made ice slide I had ever 
seen.  With a running start you could slide almost the length of the barracks which was an 
exciting experience.  I heard that one fellow broke his leg, and I believe the slide was 
closed down.  It was fun while it lasted. 
 The trumpet player wanted to see the music for “The Carnival of Venice” which 
was played by Harry James on one of the records we had.  I wrote out the transcription 



for him on November 20th and then on January 14th I wrote out some arpeggios for warm-
up exercises because he needed the practice.   
 On January 23rd I got a new pair of GI shoes.  At Wetzlar I had been issued a pair 
of English shoes with hob nails and it was good that I had the new shoes for the march, 
although it may have been hard to break in a new pair of shoes on such a march.  On the 
same day a GI shirt was issued to my room and we had a drawing and I won it.  It was a 
size 16 and too large for me but I wore it all the time.  Earlier, I had been given a GI 
blanket so I had two to go with me on the march.  At Fallingbostel I sold the shirt to a 
French soldier for 17 crackers.  I think I have been lucky or fortunate all of my life. 
 Other than making a copy of my whole notebook I think I have given you some of 
the highlights of my life at Luft IV.  Use any, all, or none of it you want.  I always meant 
to rewrite the whole thing but it seems to be too big a task now.  I’m just glad to help 
when I can.        
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  
  



E-Mail to Laura Edge from John H. Anderson:  September 14. 2011 
 

A DAY OF INFAMY 
  
 
 Here are my comments on this chapter:   
   
Page 1, second sentence—One of the things that gunners had to do before 
each mission was to put their gun(s) into position.  As I recall at each waist, 
tail, and turret a box of .50 caliber bullets was placed and they were filled 
before we got on to the plane.  The gunner placed the first round into the 
chamber.  The bullets were all linked together and every so often 
(somewhere between 4 and 10) came a tracer bullet which allowed the 
gunner to see where his bullets were going.  In the radio room was a single 
gun sticking out the top which was ineffective and I never fired it in training 
or in combat except on our ninth mission when we flew to Russia.  We had 
to test fire our guns and I pointed it out over the ocean and pulled the trigger.  
The gun whipped toward the tail and I let go just in time to avoid hitting the 
tail.  There may have been a safety device to avoid such an event, but that is 
the only time I fired a gun in combat.  How’s that for contributing to the war 
effort?   
 I believe it was in late July that it was decided to fly with only a crew 
of 9 instead of 10.  In case of an attack I was to man one of the waist guns.  
My two waist gunners and the tail gunner took turns staying at the base.  I’m 
sure that must have saved many lives.  9 did the job of 10. 
 At our base the barracks (huts) were quite a distance from the flight 
line.  I’m sure we could hear the engines being tested, but inside the hut it 
was not noticeable.  At least, I don’t remember that keeping me awake.   
Paragraph 2—I do not think we had heated socks.  On my first mission I 
forgot to attach (by snaps) my heated trousers to my heated jacket.  A cord 
came out of my left sleeve which I plugged into the outlet.  Just before we 
reached the target (coast of France on June 4th) we were told to put on our 
flak jacket.  This protected your front and back against any fragments which 
might come into the plane.  My feet began to get cold so I turned up the 
rheostat.  Soon I started sweating on my face while my feet kept getting 
colder.  I realized what I had done wrong, but since I was inexperienced I 
decided not to take off my flak suit, my parachute harness and attach the 
trousers and then put it all back together again.  I decided to just sweat it out.  
I did get sick to my stomach and had to go into the bomb bay to throw up.  I 



learned a lesson that day.  I don’t think we had any heated socks.  I’m not 
sure about heated gloves either. 
 Attached to the trousers were two felt shoes which were heated to 
keep your feet warm.  I wore fur-lined flying boots over them so my feet 
never got cold.   
Page 2—This is good writing.  I may have worn OD’s on the shuttle mission 
to Russia because I thought I would need them.  When we flew to Italy it 
was hot and, luckily, I met a good friend from gunnery school there and he 
let me borrow a set of khakis so I could go to town.  I believe I wore my 
fatigues on most of my missions.  I did not have enough sense to bring along 
my GI shoes so when I landed outside Berlin I was barefooted.  
Page 3—You go about introducing the characters very well.  I figured out 
that Witt was left waist gunner but it might help to mention it.   
Page 5—Pancakes were often served at our breakfast.  I decided I felt better 
if I did not eat a big breakfast.  I did enjoy the hot chocolate and cookies we 
got at our briefing after the mission.  We often received a candy bar before a 
mission.  The meals were unusually pretty good.  I remember one Sunday 
afternoon and we were too late for lunch so they served us cold cuts and 
potato salad.  I was unhappy.  I never did like potato salad. 

After breakfast the entire crew attended the main briefing at which the 
target was indicated.  You made me smile just reading your account of it. 
The gunners then went to the plane while the pilots, navigators, and radio 
operators attended their own briefings.   
Page 6—near last full sentence:  should use a semi-colon instead of a colon.   
Page 7—I used to not know what the pathfinder airplane did.  It might help 
to give an explanation.  Do you know the position of Tucker’s plane in the 
formation? 
Page 8—My heated suit, I think, was sort of  reddish brown but you call it 
blue.  I guess I could be wrong, but at any rate, it was a great invention.  
Since I had to use my hands to write I don’t think I wore gloves all the time. 
I never heard of a flax jacket.          
Page 10—last paragraph:  In my dictionary grippe is another name for 
influenza.  You must mean gripes.  I have not heard of the odds of surviving 
all the missions.  You have set the reader up for the final mission in an 
interesting way.  Another colon needs to be “semi-d”. 
Page 12—second paragraph:  They call out on the intercom.  
Page 13—Perhaps “regroup” might be a better word to use than “reform”.  
Maybe footnote #26 would be a good  place to explain the pathfinder.  
Wow!  Over 50% casualties in the A Group.   



Page 14—Do you know the phrase “Tail-end Charlie”?  That is what we 
called the back position in a formation.  John Nichol, the English author who 
wrote about the evacuations of prisoners-of-war camps near the end of the 
war, has written a book entitled “Tail-end Charlies”.  I have the book, but 
like the others, it is still out in the garage.   
 You mention the pilot crawling through the bomb bay toward the 
radio room.  What happened to him?  Did he go out the back door?  Almost 
everybody did.  I can imagine Witt’s thought when he sees the pilot away 
from the cockpit.  Do you need to detail his exiting also? 
 You mention the longitude numbers twice.  Should they be in reverse 
order?     
  
What a great story!  It contains a lot of drama and suspense.  You can be 
proud of your achievement.    



 
Date:  Tue, 18 Sep 2012 00:30:12 -0400 [09/18/2012 12:30:12 AM EST] 
From:  

JOHN H. ANDERSON <JANDERSON118@triad.rr.com>   
To:  

Laura Edge <lawe@umich.edu>  
Subject:  Review of your book 
Show this HTML in a new window? 
Hey, Laura, 
    When I got home from my visit to the 388th Bomb Group reunion in Savannah I  had a number 
of newspapers waiting to be read.  I knew that I was going to enjoy your book so I put it off for 
awhile.  Then I had to read the e-mails and that is a chore.  Once in a while I find something of 
interest but it usually is not often.  Then I read the Introduction to your book and it touched me 
deeply.  I thought it had some of your best writing.  You have a way with words that is appealing 
and you keep the interest going.  The next night I started to read the rest of the book and I could 
not put it down until I finished it.  Bravo!   
    I took it to my ex-pow meeting in Greensboro last Saturday and showed them the book.  We 
only had eight people present but the son-in-law of one of our members (a widow) is a pilot and 
he sends me e-mails about B-17s that he thinks will interest me.  It was his turn to furnish the 
dessert and he bought three apple pies which was more than we could eat so he gave me one to 
take home.  It has been a long time since I had a pie that tasted this good.  Now that I have about 
caught up with my reading I can start sending some interesting material to you.  I want to contact 
Walter Lawrence again and see how he is getting along.  The last time he wrote he said he was 
falling behing with the housework.  He did get to attend the last national convention of AXPOW in 
Arlington, TX and gave me a report of events.  I doubt that the national organization will last much 
longer.   
    I think you have written a real gem.  Thank you for allowing me to read some of your material 
before it appeared in print.  Now that I have read your book in its entirety I want to convey to you 
that you really did a fantastic job.  Your description of the march was so much better than what I 
wrote.  You ought to submit the book to whomever reads new books and gives awards to the best 
of the year.  I don't know who that would be but I would like to write in support of the idea.  Thank 
you for sending me a copy.  It even has my picture in it.  I am more than pleased with the final 
result. 
    Next time I write I shall tell you of some developments with my two books.   
                           John 
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September 12, 2010 
 
Dear John, 
 A thousand thanks for your very interesting and informative emails.  I have 
been reading them over and over again for the past couple of days and making 
notes all over them.  I have also been looking back over my dad’s story to learn 
where your story is similar and where it is different.   
  

Christmas 1944:  My dad had vivid memories of the church services and 
the hymns that were sung.  I have read Christiansen’s book.  It is an amazing 
story.  I have always been touched by his description of Christmas Eve and 
referred to it during my presentation at a senior event and during presentations 
for high school and middle school classes.  I am excited to hear your music may 
become part of the AXPOW traveling exhibit.  I wonder if it will travel to my area 
of the country.  I do believe that the church in lager C and the opportunity to be 
part of your choir played a big part in helping my father get through captivity.  
Those were his most positive memories of Luft IV. 

 
Your liberation at Fallingbostel:  It was interesting to learn how you 

evaded the march out.  Thank God for the air raids that kept you from having to 
go on the road again.  You mention that Stalag XIB was liberated at 8:37.  Stalag 
357 was liberated around 9am.  I wonder if XIB was a little more organized than 
357 after liberation.  There were not many Americans at 357 and it was a much 
smaller camp.  Dad recalls coming and going at will.  I will attach my chapter on 
his liberation to this email.  You can read my dad’s account of how the German’s 
surrendered there. I would like to add your story of liberation to that chapter. 

 
Flying out of Germany to Belgium:  My dad believes he left 357 on April 

24th.  This date is based on letters he wrote home.  If this is correct, he left 5 days 
after you did.  I was touched to tears by your memory of singing “Off we go into 
the wild blue yonder” as you left the camp.  Dad was also taken to an airfield 
(grass strip) and flown out on a C-47.  I don’t know if it was Dieholtz but it makes 
sense that it may have been the same field.     

Please read about my dad’s memories of the place he stayed in Brussels.  
Edouard Reniere of Brussels tried to help dad and I figure out where he stayed 
when there.  Do you know the name of the facility?  Edouard suggested either 
Barracks Etterbeck or College St. Michel may have been used for transit camps 
but he was not able to find out.  From looking at pictures, dad thought College St. 
Michel looked more like a possibility because of the surrounding boulevards.  
However, he was not sure.  I’ll send pictures when I get home.  Dad was also 
given some francs.  I now have the change he received after making his 
purchases in Brussels.  He saved it all these years. 

Dad only stayed in Brussels less than 24 hours.  Then he was flown to 
Camp Lucy Strike.  He did not make a stop at Namur as you did.  
 



Southampton:  Dad went home on the USMM Sea Tiger.  They also stopped in 
Southampton to join a convoy home.  It is interesting to learn that you were in 
England on VE Day.  Dad was a few days out of Southampton.  The day before 
VE Day his convoy was attacked by submarine.  This was a very vivid and scary 
memory for my dad.  Now, it is very curious that you and my dad arrived in New 
York Harbor on the very same day.  So, it seems you must have been part of the 
same convoy across the Atlantic even though you left on different days.  Is this 
possible?  What do you think?  I have the story from the New York Times about 
the day you arrived in New York.  You were in the first convoy to enter the harbor 
after VE Day.  I’ll send you a copy although it is a rather poor copy made from 
microfilm at U of M library. Dad also left for Camp Kilmer on May 20th and from 
there was sent to Fort Sheridan in Chicago. 
 
President Madison: Dad also reported there after his 60-day furlough.  He only 
stayed there three days (Aug 1st-Aug 3rd).  Then he was sent to the Pancoast 
Hospital at Collins Ave. and 29th street, Miami Beach. Fl.  (Aug 3rd - Aug 16th). 
Finally he was sent to the Towers Hospital at Collins Ave. and 42nd Street, Miami 
Beach, FL. (Aug 16th – Sept 27th).   
 
San Antonio:  Dad left for San Antonio on Sept 27th.  In many of his letters he 
laments his lack of points for discharge.  In one letter home dated October 8th he 
mentions meeting up with a fellow he knew from the camp.  Name is Wetzel (if I 
am reading his handwriting correctly).  “He sang a duet with another fellow for 
our Christmas program last year.”  Does this jog your memory? Dad was 
discharged on October 31st. 
 
I will be interested to hear your comments on my chapter on liberation.  I will 
work on adding your story of liberation from XIB to this.  I am so glad to have 
more information.  Because dad was separated from all the Luft IV men and did 
not remember names of those two American airmen he met at 357, I did not have 
enough stories to enrich this chapter.   
 
Thank you again for sharing your time and stories. 
Laura      
 
  
  
  
   



John H. Anderson served with the 388th Bomb Group, 8th Air Force, during World War 
II. 
 
He was shot down on August 6, 1944. 
 
He was held at Stalag Luft IV, was a participant on the forced march, and taken to Stalag 
XIB, Fallingbostel. 
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University of Georgia Alumni Association 
 
 
UGA Heritage: 
Greatest Generation 

The War Experiences of John H. Anderson 

John H. Anderson of North Carolina is a member of UGA Alumni's Greatest Generation.  
He was Assistant Director of the Red Coat Band and a music instructor for 17 years after 
his experience as a Prisoner of War during World War II.  His unusal and interesting 
story follows: 
 
The notice of my induction into the Army came after my 20th birthday on December 16, 
1942.  I had taken the physical exam and was classified One-A.  It was near the end of 
the first semester of my senior year at the Conservatory of Music of Kansas City, so I 
went to the draft board and asked for an extension of time so I could complete my senior 
year.  They asked what was my field of study, and when I replied that it was music they 
said it was not necessary for national defense.  I had anticipated such a thing happening 
because the draft age was lowered from 21 to 19 so I knew they would get me.  The 
board deliberated for a few minutes and came out and told me that I could have two more 
weeks so I could finish my first semester.  I had attended two colleges in order to get 
enough credits to graduate.  I thanked them and finished my classes, took my exams, 
gave my recital, put on a fraternity dance, and had a special graduation ceremony for me.  
I received the Bachelor of Music degree in Public School Music. 

 

• Induction into Army at Ft. Leavenworth, Kansas:  January 30, 1943. 
• Basic training for the Army Air Corps in St. Petersburg, Florida:  February-

March, became a PFC. 
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• Radio School in Sioux Falls, South Dakota:  March–September. 
• Gunnery School in Las Vegas, Nevada:  October-December, became a Sergeant. 
• 15-day furlough at home, returned day after Christmas to Salt Lake City, and 

Kearns, Utah for pistol range and radio refresher courses.  Assigned to a crew and 
shipped to Ardmore, Oklahoma on January 17, 1944. 

• Finished crew training and transferred to Kearney, Nebraska on Easter, April 9. 
• Left staging area on train because of bad weather and sent to Camp Kilmer in 

New Jersey on April 18. 
• Boarded British boat Arowa on April 24 and arrived in Liverpool, England on 

May 6.  Sent to replacement center near Stone and on May 11 to Hemel 
Hempstead for more schooling in radio.  Transferred to 388th Bomb Group at 
Knettishall on May 25th and placed in 561st Bomb Squadron.  More schooling. 

 
 
Missions 

 

• #1 to Cape Gris Nez on French coast: June 4, 1944. 
• #3 to Caen, France—D-Day, June 6.  Raised to Staff Sergeant and later to Tech. 
• #9 to Ruhland, Germany, June 21, shuttle mission landing in Poltava, Russia. 

Germans bombed air field after midnight and destroyed many planes. After five 
days the remaining planes flew to drop bombs on Drohobycz, Poland and landed 
in Foggia, Italy (mission #10).  While in Italy I heard a concert by Jascha Heifetz 
and got to swim in the Adriatic Sea.  On mission #11 we dropped bombs on 
Beziers, France after flying near Rome, across Corsica and near Marseilles, 
eventually landing back at our base in England. 

• #13 We dropped supplies to the Maquis, freedom-fighters in southern France, on 
July 14th. 

• #18 & 19 we flew and dropped bombs in support of the front line troops at St. Lo, 
France. 

• #20 & 21 to Merseburg, Germany. 
• #23 to Hamburg, Germany, pilot received flak in foot.  Crew to get 7-day 

furlough with plans to go to Scotland. 
• #24 to Berlin, if call had come in after midnight we would have been on 

furlough.  Squadron gave us a substitute pilot.  Plane received a direct hit in the 
oxygen system and crew had to bail out.  Copilot and navigator were burned and 
sent to hospital.  Other crew members safe except for engineer who was beaten by 
civilians. August 6. 

 
I landed near the suburb of Grossbeeren and was captured almost immediately. 
 
Took seven trains and a bus to arrive at a jail.  Four of my crew and two other Americans 
rode to Frankfurt by train the next evening.  Was interrogated at Oberursal and sent to 
Dulag Luft at Wetzlar.  I was issued a British uniform and was in first contingent to go to 



Stalag Luft VI at St. Wendel near Luxembourg.  American planes bombed Frankfurt as 
we sat in a train car on our way to St. Wendel.  Luft VI was not completed and we lived 
in a garage-like building for 20 days.  The Allies rushed across Germany and we could 
see tanks and trucks returning to Germany so the war must almost be over.  Left St. 
Wendel on September 5th by boxcar and arrived at Luft IV on September 9th.  I was 
placed in a tent in A Lager until September 26th when I went to the opening of C Lager 
and built my bunk in Barracks I.  Three of my crew members were with me until we 
evacuated camp on February 6, 1945. 
 
For me camp life presented a great opportunity to develop teaching skills as I tried to 
teach music theory to individuals who wanted to learn about music.  My engineer went 
through the course of study without hearing what he wrote.  When a pump organ came 
into the compound on November 22 it was a big advantage to my music program.  I was 
also able to arrange music for the church choir which rehearsed MWF at 1:00.  Upon 
hearing some good voices in the Catholic choir I started a Men’s Glee Club which met 
TTS at 1:00.  The choir sang every Sunday at the church service; the glee club sang 
programs of school fight songs, Christmas service in the middle of the compound on 
Christmas eve attended by the visiting YMCA representative, and three performances of 
a minstrel show in January.  I gained a lot of good experiences. 
 
As choir director I was a member of the church committee which provided a substitute 
preacher every Sunday in case the English padre did not show up.  Hymnals from the 
YMCA were used and were the source of material for my music program.  Morning 
devotion was held each morning following roll call.  In December my barracks began to 
have vesper services at 6:00.  The barracks were closed up at sundown but lights were not 
out until 9:00.  In January I started a program in my barracks at 7:00 that offered round 
table discussions, debates, music appreciation, spelling bees, lectures and whatever else 
could be done.  A library in the Red Cross building in the lager was always full and I did 
more reading than before.  A Red Cross parcel containing food was to be given to each 
prisoner every week, but except for Thanksgiving and Christmas week we were on half 
rations all the time I was in camp.  Food was always a topic of conversation.  The bread 
ration disappeared just before we left camp.  A football contest between the ten barracks 
was started in October.  Barracks 1 never won a game but we had some good cheers 
which I helped write.  Some instruments came into the compound and the Germans built 
a stage for our use about the time of the Battle of the Bulge.  It all came to an end when 
the Germans told us on February 5 that we would leave camp by foot in 12 hours.  My 
great experiences were to come to an end. 
 
My room, Room 3 in Barracks 1, won the honor of being the first in the formation to 
leave camp.  We were told we were to walk three days, rest one, walk two more and 
arrive at the new camp.  Those instructions were wrong.  We were on the road for 53 
days.  As we went through the Vorlager in front of the camp piles of canned food were 
lying on the ground.  We were told to take what we wanted but to be considerate of 
others.  I took a chocolate bar.  Each of us was given a full Red Cross parcel which 
weighed about 11 pounds.  All my belongings including three hymnals, a library book, 
my small stash of food, my arrangements of music for the choir, everything was wrapped 



in my two blankets with the ends tied together by a string and slung over my shoulder.  I 
started out on the right in the second row.  The formation was all of C Lager which by 
that time was about 2600 soldiers.  It was probably about a mile long and we started 
marching but it soon turned into just walking.  We went at least 14 kilometers with just 
three stops.  Sometime in the afternoon I began to get a cramp in my right foot. I decided 
to fall to the back of the formation and find Steve, the British medic, who lived in my 
barracks and was a good friend.  I thought he could tape it up and give it support.  When I 
found Steve he was talking to an older soldier who just wanted to stop and sit down 
which was not possible.  Steve was keeping him going.  Steve told me he had no tape.  
He said the tempo of walking was too fast.  If I was going back to the front I could tell 
them to slow down.  I made my way back to the front but could not slow them down.  We 
arrived at a farm where the barn surrounded a big compound.  We were placed in the barn 
and locked up.  Women at the farm were the first we had seen in months. 
 
On the third day I left two hymnals and the library book in the barn before we left.  
Despite that I had trouble carrying my pack and constantly walking.  The men in my 
room took turns carrying it for a ways which gave me relief.  I finally took it back just as 
we reached the bottom of a hill and turned left to go up another hill.  On the right side of 
the road a group of refugees were fleeing with everything they had.  Some were walking 
and some had horse-drawn wagons.  I knew I could not climb that hill.  I crossed the road 
and found a wagon with the back open, threw my pack on the back and sat on the edge.  
A guard saw me and made me get off, but I did get to ride up the hill which I consider 
somewhat a miracle. 
 
On the 13th we walked in the snow.  On the 14th we traveled 40 kilometers (about 25 
miles).  By this time I had adjusted to the exercise and felt much better.  The entire 
formation had to sleep outside in a field near Swindemunde and it started to rain.  It was a 
miserable night with little sleep.  The next day we took a ferry across Stettin Bay.  I 
caught up with my crew members again.  On the 16th I had another unforgettable 
experience.  After walking 30 kilos we saw our destination barn ahead with the road 
making a ninety degree turn to the right to reach it.  We decided to save some steps and 
take the hypotenuse to reach it.  After we got started we discovered we were in deep 
mud.  It was laborious to pick up each foot and then sink in the mud.  If we ran we could 
stay on top of the ground and if we stopped we would sink in.  We arrived at the barn 
exhausted.  It was a terrible barn, wet and no hay.  We were all thirsty and Nelson, the 
ball turret gunner, decided to try and go to the well with a guard and get some water.  He 
came back with a full Klim can of water for us and said he thought he could get more but 
to save a fourth of it for him.  We each drank a fourth and left Nelson’s share for him.  
After about an hour he did not return and we figured he was probably stocking up on the 
water so we split the water three ways.  Nelson returned with no water, knowing he had 
some waiting for him, but we had drunk it.  It was a heart-rending experience.  The next 
day we went through Anklem, a fairly large town.  I remember having to go to the 
bathroom because of my diarrhea.  A woman driving a wagon went by and did not look at 
me.  On the 20th we had another day of rest.  I talked with a Russian woman named 
Rosie who was from Poltava.  Because I had been to Poltava she gave me part of a head 
of cabbage which I cooked and ate the next day.  Usually we got two boiled potatoes and 



a cup of hot water each day.  One time I went 24 hours without eating to see if that would 
help my diarrhea but it did not help much.  Some Red Cross food arrived which helped 
morale.  On March 2nd it snowed and the wind blew so hard you could almost lean into it 
and it would hold you up.  I just did make the 28 kilometers that day. 
 
Captain Leslie Caplan, an American doctor, had come to camp in November and was on 
the march with us.  He had requested that the Germans allow a wagon to carry the 
soldiers who could not march.  It also carried the guards’ baggage.  On March 3rd he said 
that I could ride on the wagon which traveled slower at the back of the formation.  While 
marching or trudging through the snow your blood circulated better than it did sitting in 
the wagon.  I practically froze on the wagon and became unable to walk with frozen feet. 
The doctor would get too many to transport so he would leave a group of them in a barn 
with a medic and hope for the best.  I almost got left twice but continued to ride the 
wagon.  On March 12th I was able to walk without my pack except for the last 3 kilos.   
On March 20th a truck took my group for 16 kilometers to a nice barn where we had lots 
of hot water and potatoes.  On the next day Dr. Caplan assigned me to a group under my 
friend Steve, the British medic who lived in my barracks and was a good friend.  We rode 
in an open railcar and did not arrive until after dark.  The next day 20 of us were put in a 
passenger car with 2 guards.  We did not go far but were on the train all night.  We each 
got a full Red Cross parcel plus another one to split between two soldiers.  We transferred 
to another train at Uelzen but seven of us and one guard missed the new train.  We stayed 
on the platform on a baggage cart from 5:30 until 11:00.  The air raid sirens started to 
sound and we were asked if we wanted to go to the shelter.  We discussed it and decided 
that if the bombers were headed for this town it would be better to sweat it out on top 
rather than to be among a bunch of civilians.  Luckily, the planes flew over without an 
incident. 
 
After catching up with the group that had left us we had about four days of rest without 
having to travel.  On the 28th we were taken by wagon to a railway station at Ebsdorf.  I 
did not know the name of that town until I started to transcribe the Journal of Dr. Caplan 
in 2002.  We were placed in a box car with no food or drink or toilet facilities for 40 
hours.  It was one of the most traumatic experiences in my life.  The train moved about 
60 kilometers and arrived at Fallingbostel which held Stalag XI B holding thousands of 
prisoners of all nationalities.  I was placed in a white tent filled with soldiers who were in 
bad shape.  Easter Sunday was April 1st.  About ten funerals were held each day.  On 
April 5th I moved to a convalescent tent next door.  On April 9th German orders woke us 
up.  The men in the Air Corps were to continue marching.  I knew I could not go any 
further.  I was barely able to walk.  In order to avoid the formation I went to the French 
section.  The prisoners there had been prisoners for years and were receiving personal 
parcels from home.  I remember one fellow baking bread.  The aroma was mouth-
watering.  When I returned to my tent the Germans didn’t like it that some of the 
Americans had stayed.  They threatened to cut off the food supply.  We were to fall out 
for inspection the next day at noon.  The choices were to march or go to the hospital.  The 
next day we had an air raid that lasted all afternoon.  We were told to report tomorrow. 
The next morning most of the Germans were gone.  The few Germans still carried the 
guns, but a British soldier was allowed to walk with each guard.  Food became more of a 



problem.  I sold my GI shirt which I had won in a lottery back in camp to a French 
soldier for 17 crackers.  I had wanted 20 but settled for 17.  He opened his drawer which 
was full of crackers and counted out 17 for me.  At 8:37 the morning of April 16th a tank 
and a command car drove up to the gate of the camp.  The British 2nd army had arrived.  
The second day everyone got a loaf of white bread.  I ate mine immediately.  On the 19th 
I evacuated the camp singing “Off we go into the wild, blue yonder”.  The line about 
“down in flames” had a special meaning to all of us.  At the British transient camp we 
were given a good stew, but it was difficult to eat very much.  We spent our last night in 
Germany and went to the airport at Dieholtz on the 20th.  We saw Eisenhower’s plane 
there so he was there for a meeting.  Our plane was to take us to England but due to a late 
start decided to stop in Brussels for the night.  The next morning I was wondering about 
the camp and found a shower.  How long had it been since my last shower?  I missed the 
group going to England, but the officer told me to go to the quartermaster and I received 
a complete British uniform.  He gave me 2,000 Belgium francs and told me to go to town 
and have a good time.  I bought some ice cream, some lace handkerchieves for my 
mother and sister, and visited a news theater.  It was so much fun that I decided to do it 
again.  The officer said it was the last he could give me.  I attended a symphony concert. 
 
Before I left Brussels I visited the Conservatoire de Musique and G.I. Joe’s, (PX).  I was 
refused entrance because of my British uniform, but after showing my one dog tag the 
officer in charge instructed the clerks to sell me anything I wanted.  I had a coke, candy, 
and peanuts.  A train took me to Namur and I was back in American hands. 
 
Back in an American uniform the food was excellent but the weather was rain and snow.  
Planes were grounded so after a week we took a train to Camp Lucky Strike at Le Harve 
arriving April 30th.  The hospital was a tent so I decided to keep my problems to myself 
until I got on a boat.  This happened on May 6th and the ship was S.S. Marine Fox.  On 
the 7th we stopped at Southampton and the next morning I heard Churchill on the radio 
say that the war in Europe was officially over.  We saw the Statue of Liberty on the 19th 
and disembarked on the 20th.  The first meal upon returning was outstanding.  I arrived 
back in Kansas City on the 23rd but had to go on to Ft. Leavenworth.  Mother came to 
the station to see me, but a day later I returned by bus and started a 60-day furlough.  On 
June 21st another of my dreams came true.  I went downtown and marched in a parade to 
the Union Station in a parade with General Eisenhower at the head.  As a child I had seen 
Civil War veterans in a parade along with other veterans.  Now I am as old as they were 
then. 
 
My discharge from the Army came on October 11th at Lincoln, Nebraska.  Ten days later 
I was on the train to the University of Michigan where I received the Master of Music in 
Music Literature in June of 1947 and got my first job that fall at the University of 
Georgia as Assistant Band Director and Instructor of Music.  I stayed until 1964, had 5 
years at Bethel College in McKenzie, Tennessee as Head of the Music Department, and 
then I became Chairman of Fine Arts at Columbus College until I retired in 1982. 
 
It has been a great life and after living 26 years in Florida I now live in North Carolina 
where I am near my daughter, hospitals and great places to eat.  
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UGA Heritage: 
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The War Experiences of John H. Anderson 

John H. Anderson of North Carolina is a member of UGA Alumni's Greatest Generation.  
He was Assistant Director of the Red Coat Band and a music instructor for 17 years after 
his experience as a Prisoner of War during World War II.  His unusal and interesting 
story follows: 
 
The notice of my induction into the Army came after my 20th birthday on December 16, 
1942.  I had taken the physical exam and was classified One-A.  It was near the end of 
the first semester of my senior year at the Conservatory of Music of Kansas City, so I 
went to the draft board and asked for an extension of time so I could complete my senior 
year.  They asked what was my field of study, and when I replied that it was music they 
said it was not necessary for national defense.  I had anticipated such a thing happening 
because the draft age was lowered from 21 to 19 so I knew they would get me.  The 
board deliberated for a few minutes and came out and told me that I could have two more 
weeks so I could finish my first semester.  I had attended two colleges in order to get 
enough credits to graduate.  I thanked them and finished my classes, took my exams, 
gave my recital, put on a fraternity dance, and had a special graduation ceremony for me.  
I received the Bachelor of Music degree in Public School Music. 

 

• Induction into Army at Ft. Leavenworth, Kansas:  January 30, 1943. 
• Basic training for the Army Air Corps in St. Petersburg, Florida:  February-

March, became a PFC. 
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• Radio School in Sioux Falls, South Dakota:  March–September. 
• Gunnery School in Las Vegas, Nevada:  October-December, became a Sergeant. 
• 15-day furlough at home, returned day after Christmas to Salt Lake City, and 

Kearns, Utah for pistol range and radio refresher courses.  Assigned to a crew and 
shipped to Ardmore, Oklahoma on January 17, 1944. 

• Finished crew training and transferred to Kearney, Nebraska on Easter, April 9. 
• Left staging area on train because of bad weather and sent to Camp Kilmer in 

New Jersey on April 18. 
• Boarded British boat Arowa on April 24 and arrived in Liverpool, England on 

May 6.  Sent to replacement center near Stone and on May 11 to Hemel 
Hempstead for more schooling in radio.  Transferred to 388th Bomb Group at 
Knettishall on May 25th and placed in 561st Bomb Squadron.  More schooling. 

 
 
Missions 

 

• #1 to Cape Gris Nez on French coast: June 4, 1944. 
• #3 to Caen, France—D-Day, June 6.  Raised to Staff Sergeant and later to Tech. 
• #9 to Ruhland, Germany, June 21, shuttle mission landing in Poltava, Russia. 

Germans bombed air field after midnight and destroyed many planes. After five 
days the remaining planes flew to drop bombs on Drohobycz, Poland and landed 
in Foggia, Italy (mission #10).  While in Italy I heard a concert by Jascha Heifetz 
and got to swim in the Adriatic Sea.  On mission #11 we dropped bombs on 
Beziers, France after flying near Rome, across Corsica and near Marseilles, 
eventually landing back at our base in England. 

• #13 We dropped supplies to the Maquis, freedom-fighters in southern France, on 
July 14th. 

• #18 & 19 we flew and dropped bombs in support of the front line troops at St. Lo, 
France. 

• #20 & 21 to Merseburg, Germany. 
• #23 to Hamburg, Germany, pilot received flak in foot.  Crew to get 7-day 

furlough with plans to go to Scotland. 
• #24 to Berlin, if call had come in after midnight we would have been on 

furlough.  Squadron gave us a substitute pilot.  Plane received a direct hit in the 
oxygen system and crew had to bail out.  Copilot and navigator were burned and 
sent to hospital.  Other crew members safe except for engineer who was beaten by 
civilians. August 6. 

 
I landed near the suburb of Grossbeeren and was captured almost immediately. 
 
Took seven trains and a bus to arrive at a jail.  Four of my crew and two other Americans 
rode to Frankfurt by train the next evening.  Was interrogated at Oberursal and sent to 
Dulag Luft at Wetzlar.  I was issued a British uniform and was in first contingent to go to 



Stalag Luft VI at St. Wendel near Luxembourg.  American planes bombed Frankfurt as 
we sat in a train car on our way to St. Wendel.  Luft VI was not completed and we lived 
in a garage-like building for 20 days.  The Allies rushed across Germany and we could 
see tanks and trucks returning to Germany so the war must almost be over.  Left St. 
Wendel on September 5th by boxcar and arrived at Luft IV on September 9th.  I was 
placed in a tent in A Lager until September 26th when I went to the opening of C Lager 
and built my bunk in Barracks I.  Three of my crew members were with me until we 
evacuated camp on February 6, 1945. 
 
For me camp life presented a great opportunity to develop teaching skills as I tried to 
teach music theory to individuals who wanted to learn about music.  My engineer went 
through the course of study without hearing what he wrote.  When a pump organ came 
into the compound on November 22 it was a big advantage to my music program.  I was 
also able to arrange music for the church choir which rehearsed MWF at 1:00.  Upon 
hearing some good voices in the Catholic choir I started a Men’s Glee Club which met 
TTS at 1:00.  The choir sang every Sunday at the church service; the glee club sang 
programs of school fight songs, Christmas service in the middle of the compound on 
Christmas eve attended by the visiting YMCA representative, and three performances of 
a minstrel show in January.  I gained a lot of good experiences. 
 
As choir director I was a member of the church committee which provided a substitute 
preacher every Sunday in case the English padre did not show up.  Hymnals from the 
YMCA were used and were the source of material for my music program.  Morning 
devotion was held each morning following roll call.  In December my barracks began to 
have vesper services at 6:00.  The barracks were closed up at sundown but lights were not 
out until 9:00.  In January I started a program in my barracks at 7:00 that offered round 
table discussions, debates, music appreciation, spelling bees, lectures and whatever else 
could be done.  A library in the Red Cross building in the lager was always full and I did 
more reading than before.  A Red Cross parcel containing food was to be given to each 
prisoner every week, but except for Thanksgiving and Christmas week we were on half 
rations all the time I was in camp.  Food was always a topic of conversation.  The bread 
ration disappeared just before we left camp.  A football contest between the ten barracks 
was started in October.  Barracks 1 never won a game but we had some good cheers 
which I helped write.  Some instruments came into the compound and the Germans built 
a stage for our use about the time of the Battle of the Bulge.  It all came to an end when 
the Germans told us on February 5 that we would leave camp by foot in 12 hours.  My 
great experiences were to come to an end. 
 
My room, Room 3 in Barracks 1, won the honor of being the first in the formation to 
leave camp.  We were told we were to walk three days, rest one, walk two more and 
arrive at the new camp.  Those instructions were wrong.  We were on the road for 53 
days.  As we went through the Vorlager in front of the camp piles of canned food were 
lying on the ground.  We were told to take what we wanted but to be considerate of 
others.  I took a chocolate bar.  Each of us was given a full Red Cross parcel which 
weighed about 11 pounds.  All my belongings including three hymnals, a library book, 
my small stash of food, my arrangements of music for the choir, everything was wrapped 



in my two blankets with the ends tied together by a string and slung over my shoulder.  I 
started out on the right in the second row.  The formation was all of C Lager which by 
that time was about 2600 soldiers.  It was probably about a mile long and we started 
marching but it soon turned into just walking.  We went at least 14 kilometers with just 
three stops.  Sometime in the afternoon I began to get a cramp in my right foot. I decided 
to fall to the back of the formation and find Steve, the British medic, who lived in my 
barracks and was a good friend.  I thought he could tape it up and give it support.  When I 
found Steve he was talking to an older soldier who just wanted to stop and sit down 
which was not possible.  Steve was keeping him going.  Steve told me he had no tape.  
He said the tempo of walking was too fast.  If I was going back to the front I could tell 
them to slow down.  I made my way back to the front but could not slow them down.  We 
arrived at a farm where the barn surrounded a big compound.  We were placed in the barn 
and locked up.  Women at the farm were the first we had seen in months. 
 
On the third day I left two hymnals and the library book in the barn before we left.  
Despite that I had trouble carrying my pack and constantly walking.  The men in my 
room took turns carrying it for a ways which gave me relief.  I finally took it back just as 
we reached the bottom of a hill and turned left to go up another hill.  On the right side of 
the road a group of refugees were fleeing with everything they had.  Some were walking 
and some had horse-drawn wagons.  I knew I could not climb that hill.  I crossed the road 
and found a wagon with the back open, threw my pack on the back and sat on the edge.  
A guard saw me and made me get off, but I did get to ride up the hill which I consider 
somewhat a miracle. 
 
On the 13th we walked in the snow.  On the 14th we traveled 40 kilometers (about 25 
miles).  By this time I had adjusted to the exercise and felt much better.  The entire 
formation had to sleep outside in a field near Swindemunde and it started to rain.  It was a 
miserable night with little sleep.  The next day we took a ferry across Stettin Bay.  I 
caught up with my crew members again.  On the 16th I had another unforgettable 
experience.  After walking 30 kilos we saw our destination barn ahead with the road 
making a ninety degree turn to the right to reach it.  We decided to save some steps and 
take the hypotenuse to reach it.  After we got started we discovered we were in deep 
mud.  It was laborious to pick up each foot and then sink in the mud.  If we ran we could 
stay on top of the ground and if we stopped we would sink in.  We arrived at the barn 
exhausted.  It was a terrible barn, wet and no hay.  We were all thirsty and Nelson, the 
ball turret gunner, decided to try and go to the well with a guard and get some water.  He 
came back with a full Klim can of water for us and said he thought he could get more but 
to save a fourth of it for him.  We each drank a fourth and left Nelson’s share for him.  
After about an hour he did not return and we figured he was probably stocking up on the 
water so we split the water three ways.  Nelson returned with no water, knowing he had 
some waiting for him, but we had drunk it.  It was a heart-rending experience.  The next 
day we went through Anklem, a fairly large town.  I remember having to go to the 
bathroom because of my diarrhea.  A woman driving a wagon went by and did not look at 
me.  On the 20th we had another day of rest.  I talked with a Russian woman named 
Rosie who was from Poltava.  Because I had been to Poltava she gave me part of a head 
of cabbage which I cooked and ate the next day.  Usually we got two boiled potatoes and 



a cup of hot water each day.  One time I went 24 hours without eating to see if that would 
help my diarrhea but it did not help much.  Some Red Cross food arrived which helped 
morale.  On March 2nd it snowed and the wind blew so hard you could almost lean into it 
and it would hold you up.  I just did make the 28 kilometers that day. 
 
Captain Leslie Caplan, an American doctor, had come to camp in November and was on 
the march with us.  He had requested that the Germans allow a wagon to carry the 
soldiers who could not march.  It also carried the guards’ baggage.  On March 3rd he said 
that I could ride on the wagon which traveled slower at the back of the formation.  While 
marching or trudging through the snow your blood circulated better than it did sitting in 
the wagon.  I practically froze on the wagon and became unable to walk with frozen feet. 
The doctor would get too many to transport so he would leave a group of them in a barn 
with a medic and hope for the best.  I almost got left twice but continued to ride the 
wagon.  On March 12th I was able to walk without my pack except for the last 3 kilos.   
On March 20th a truck took my group for 16 kilometers to a nice barn where we had lots 
of hot water and potatoes.  On the next day Dr. Caplan assigned me to a group under my 
friend Steve, the British medic who lived in my barracks and was a good friend.  We rode 
in an open railcar and did not arrive until after dark.  The next day 20 of us were put in a 
passenger car with 2 guards.  We did not go far but were on the train all night.  We each 
got a full Red Cross parcel plus another one to split between two soldiers.  We transferred 
to another train at Uelzen but seven of us and one guard missed the new train.  We stayed 
on the platform on a baggage cart from 5:30 until 11:00.  The air raid sirens started to 
sound and we were asked if we wanted to go to the shelter.  We discussed it and decided 
that if the bombers were headed for this town it would be better to sweat it out on top 
rather than to be among a bunch of civilians.  Luckily, the planes flew over without an 
incident. 
 
After catching up with the group that had left us we had about four days of rest without 
having to travel.  On the 28th we were taken by wagon to a railway station at Ebsdorf.  I 
did not know the name of that town until I started to transcribe the Journal of Dr. Caplan 
in 2002.  We were placed in a box car with no food or drink or toilet facilities for 40 
hours.  It was one of the most traumatic experiences in my life.  The train moved about 
60 kilometers and arrived at Fallingbostel which held Stalag XI B holding thousands of 
prisoners of all nationalities.  I was placed in a white tent filled with soldiers who were in 
bad shape.  Easter Sunday was April 1st.  About ten funerals were held each day.  On 
April 5th I moved to a convalescent tent next door.  On April 9th German orders woke us 
up.  The men in the Air Corps were to continue marching.  I knew I could not go any 
further.  I was barely able to walk.  In order to avoid the formation I went to the French 
section.  The prisoners there had been prisoners for years and were receiving personal 
parcels from home.  I remember one fellow baking bread.  The aroma was mouth-
watering.  When I returned to my tent the Germans didn’t like it that some of the 
Americans had stayed.  They threatened to cut off the food supply.  We were to fall out 
for inspection the next day at noon.  The choices were to march or go to the hospital.  The 
next day we had an air raid that lasted all afternoon.  We were told to report tomorrow. 
The next morning most of the Germans were gone.  The few Germans still carried the 
guns, but a British soldier was allowed to walk with each guard.  Food became more of a 



problem.  I sold my GI shirt which I had won in a lottery back in camp to a French 
soldier for 17 crackers.  I had wanted 20 but settled for 17.  He opened his drawer which 
was full of crackers and counted out 17 for me.  At 8:37 the morning of April 16th a tank 
and a command car drove up to the gate of the camp.  The British 2nd army had arrived.  
The second day everyone got a loaf of white bread.  I ate mine immediately.  On the 19th 
I evacuated the camp singing “Off we go into the wild, blue yonder”.  The line about 
“down in flames” had a special meaning to all of us.  At the British transient camp we 
were given a good stew, but it was difficult to eat very much.  We spent our last night in 
Germany and went to the airport at Dieholtz on the 20th.  We saw Eisenhower’s plane 
there so he was there for a meeting.  Our plane was to take us to England but due to a late 
start decided to stop in Brussels for the night.  The next morning I was wondering about 
the camp and found a shower.  How long had it been since my last shower?  I missed the 
group going to England, but the officer told me to go to the quartermaster and I received 
a complete British uniform.  He gave me 2,000 Belgium francs and told me to go to town 
and have a good time.  I bought some ice cream, some lace handkerchieves for my 
mother and sister, and visited a news theater.  It was so much fun that I decided to do it 
again.  The officer said it was the last he could give me.  I attended a symphony concert. 
 
Before I left Brussels I visited the Conservatoire de Musique and G.I. Joe’s, (PX).  I was 
refused entrance because of my British uniform, but after showing my one dog tag the 
officer in charge instructed the clerks to sell me anything I wanted.  I had a coke, candy, 
and peanuts.  A train took me to Namur and I was back in American hands. 
 
Back in an American uniform the food was excellent but the weather was rain and snow.  
Planes were grounded so after a week we took a train to Camp Lucky Strike at Le Harve 
arriving April 30th.  The hospital was a tent so I decided to keep my problems to myself 
until I got on a boat.  This happened on May 6th and the ship was S.S. Marine Fox.  On 
the 7th we stopped at Southampton and the next morning I heard Churchill on the radio 
say that the war in Europe was officially over.  We saw the Statue of Liberty on the 19th 
and disembarked on the 20th.  The first meal upon returning was outstanding.  I arrived 
back in Kansas City on the 23rd but had to go on to Ft. Leavenworth.  Mother came to 
the station to see me, but a day later I returned by bus and started a 60-day furlough.  On 
June 21st another of my dreams came true.  I went downtown and marched in a parade to 
the Union Station in a parade with General Eisenhower at the head.  As a child I had seen 
Civil War veterans in a parade along with other veterans.  Now I am as old as they were 
then. 
 
My discharge from the Army came on October 11th at Lincoln, Nebraska.  Ten days later 
I was on the train to the University of Michigan where I received the Master of Music in 
Music Literature in June of 1947 and got my first job that fall at the University of 
Georgia as Assistant Band Director and Instructor of Music.  I stayed until 1964, had 5 
years at Bethel College in McKenzie, Tennessee as Head of the Music Department, and 
then I became Chairman of Fine Arts at Columbus College until I retired in 1982. 
 
It has been a great life and after living 26 years in Florida I now live in North Carolina 
where I am near my daughter, hospitals and great places to eat.  
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